UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No. __)

Filed by the Registrant \boxtimes Filed by a Party other than the Registrant \Box Check the appropriate box:

- Preliminary Proxy Statement
- \Box Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))

Definitive Proxy Statement

□ Definitive Additional Materials

□ Soliciting Material Pursuant to Section 240.14a-12

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

- ⊠ No fee required.
- \Box Fee computed on table in exhibit required by Item 25(b) per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(4) and 0-11.
- □ Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.



2022

American Financial Group, Inc. Annual Meeting of Shareholders

> Meeting Notice Proxy Statement



Cincinnati, Ohio April 4, 2022

Dear Shareholder:

Our annual meeting of shareholders will be held on Wednesday, May 18, 2022, in Cincinnati, Ohio for the following purposes:

1. To elect 11 directors;

Notice of 2022 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders

- 2. To ratify the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm; and
- 3. To approve on an advisory basis our named executive officer compensation.

Shareholders will also transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the meeting.

The 2022 annual meeting of shareholders will be a virtual meeting conducted via webcast. You will be able to participate in the virtual meeting online, vote your shares electronically and submit questions during the meeting by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/AFG2022.

You may vote if you were a shareholder of record at the close of business on March 25, 2022. Our proxy materials are available via the internet, which allows us to reduce printing and delivery costs and lessen environmental impact.

We want your shares to be represented at the meeting and urge you to vote. For instructions on voting and more information about the annual meeting, please refer to page 44 under, "Information about the Annual Meeting and Voting."

Karl J. Grafe Vice President and Secretary

Voting			
	3	È	
Through the Internet: www.proxyvote.com	By toll free telephone: (800) 690-6903	By mail: Follow instructions on your proxy card	Virtually: At the Annual Meeting

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 2022 Proxy Statement Summary

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this proxy statement. This summary does not contain all of the information you should consider. You should read the entire proxy statement carefully before voting.

<u>General Information:</u> (see "Information about the Annual Meeting and Voting" beginning on page <u>44</u>):			
Meeting: 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders	Common Snares Entitled to V	ote: 85,090,625 shares	
Date: May 18, 2022	Stock Symbol: AFG		
Time: 11:00 a.m. Eastern Time	Exchange: New York Stock Ex	cchange ("NYSE")	
Location: www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/AFG2022	State of Incorporation: Ohio		
Record Date: March 25, 2022	Corporate Website: www.AFG	Ginc.com	
Matters to I	be Voted on:		
<u>Item</u>	Board Recommendation	Pages	
1. Election of 11 Director Nominees:	FOR each nominee	Beginning on page 2	
Carl H. Lindner III S. Craig Lindner John B. Berding James E. Evans Terry S. Jacobs (Independent) Gregory G. Joseph (Lead Independent) Mary Beth Martin (Independent) Amy Y. Murray (Independent) Evans N. Nwankwo (Independent) William W. Verity (Independent) John I. Von Lehman (Independent)			
2. Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	FOR	Page <u>8</u>	
3. Advisory Vote to Approve Compensation of Named Executive Officers ("Say-on-Pay")	FOR	Page 9	
Board Communications:			
Karl J. Grafe Vice President, Assistant General Counsel & Secretary American Financial Group, Inc. Great American Insurance Group Tower 301 East Fourth Street, 38th Floor Cincinnati, Ohio 45202	Gregory G Lead Independ American Financ Great American Insur 301 East Fou Cincinnati, C	ent Director ial Group, Inc. ance Group Tower irth Street	

Throughout this proxy statement, we refer to documents and information that are available on our website. The content posted on, or accessible through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this proxy statement or any of our filings with the SEC and may be revised by us (in whole or in part) at any time and from time to time.

Table of Contents

Corporate Governance Highlights		
Proposals		
Proposal No. 1 – Election of 11 Directors	<u>2</u>	
Proposal No. 2 – Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	<u>8</u>	
Proposal No. 3 – Advisory Vote on Compensation of our Named Executive Officers	<u>9</u>	
Company Information		
Management	<u>10</u>	
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management	<u>12</u>	
Corporate Governance		
Leadership Structure	<u>14</u>	
Board of Directors and Committees	<u>15</u>	
Audit Committee Report	<u>17</u>	
Majority Voting for Directors	<u>18</u>	
Director Nomination Process and Qualifications of Candidates	<u>18</u>	
Director Independence	<u>18</u>	
Other Corporate Governance Matters, Practices and Procedures	<u>19</u>	
Compensation Discussion and Analysis		
Overview of Compensation Program	<u>22</u>	
2021 Compensation Components	<u>27</u>	
2021 Compensation Determinations and Results	<u>28</u>	
Executive Compensation		
Summary Compensation Table	<u>35</u>	
Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control	<u>36</u>	
Grants of Plan-Based Awards	<u>37</u>	
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End	<u>38</u>	
Option Exercises and Stock Vested	<u>39</u>	
Nonqualified Defined Contribution and Other Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans	<u>39</u>	
Compensation Committee Report	<u>39</u>	
Director Compensation and Stock Ownership Guidelines	<u>40</u>	
Ratio of Co-CEO Total Pay to "Median Employee" Total Pay	<u>42</u>	
Equity Compensation Plan Information	<u>43</u>	
Information About the Annual Meeting and Voting	<u>44</u>	

Copies of Annual Report on Form 10-K	<u>47</u>
Submitting Shareholder Proposals for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders	<u>47</u>

ii

Corporate Governance Highlights

Corporate Governance Summary

Board Independence	 All members of key board committees (Audit, Compensation and Corporate Governance) are independent.
and Leadership	✓ 64% of our directors are independent.
	 Lead independent director empowered with broadly defined authorities and responsibilities.
	 Regular (at least quarterly) executive sessions of independent directors chaired by our lead independent director.
	 Strong board oversight of enterprise risk.
Shareholder	 Individual directors tender resignation if they fail to receive a majority of votes cast.
Rights	 Shareholders have a right to call a special meeting.
	 No poison pill.
Board Matters	 Our Corporate Governance guidelines provide that we will consider diverse Board candidates, including women and minorities, and each independent director elected to the Board since 2013 has been a woman or a minority.
	 Our Board consists of directors with a diverse mix of skills, experience and background.
	 Our Board and Board committees undertake a robust annual self-evaluation.
	 Comprehensive director orientation program for new directors.
	 Governance Committee responsible for advising the Board with respect to environmental and social risks and governance, stewardship and sustainability issues.
Director and Officer Stock	 Independent directors have a target of owning Company shares having a value of at least five times their annual cash retainer.
Ownership	 Each Co-CEO is required to own five times his base salary in Company shares.
	 All other named executive officers as well as Company senior management must own one times his or her base salary in Company shares.
	 Our executive officers and directors as a group own a substantial percentage of our outstanding common stock which directly aligns our executive officers and directors with our other shareholders.
Compensation	 Compensation Committee oversees all aspects of our named executive compensation program.
Governance	 Engaged an independent compensation consultant during 2021 to advise regarding compensation program structure.
	✓ A large portion of our named executive officers' compensation is performance-based.
	 Annual shareholder advisory vote to approve named executive officer compensation.
	 No employment agreements or agreements to pay severance upon a change in control with any of our executive officers.
	 Double-trigger vesting provisions for all equity awards following a change of control.
	 Annual equity grant to directors is a substantial portion of their annual compensation.
Ethics and Corporate	 Code of Ethics applies to all officers, employees and directors and is rooted in our values and is designed to promote the highest standards of ethical conduct.
Responsibilities	 Active and robust ethics and compliance program, which includes required regular employee training.
	 Committed to corporate responsibility and sustainability and report on our efforts accessible on our website.

Proposals

Proposal No. 1 – Election of 11 Directors

The Board of Directors oversees the management of the Company on your behalf. The Board reviews AFG's longterm strategic plans and exercises direct decision-making authority in key areas such as choosing the Co-Chief Executive Officers, setting the scope of their authority to manage the Company's business day-to-day, and evaluating senior management performance.

Upon the recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committee, the Board of Directors has nominated 11 individuals to hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders and until their successors are elected and qualified. If any of the nominees should become unable to serve as a director, the proxies will be voted for any substitute nominee designated by the Board of Directors but, in any event, no proxy may be voted for more than 11 nominees. Each nominee brings a strong and unique background and set of qualifications to the Board, giving the Board as a whole competence and experience in a wide variety of areas central to the Company's businesses, including corporate governance and board service, executive management and entrepreneurial experience and insurance, finance, legal and accounting expertise.

The nominees for election to the Board of Directors are as follows:



Carl H. Lindner III

Age: 68 Director Since 1991 **Key Experience:** Mr. Lindner has been Co-Chief Executive Officer since January 2005, and since 1996, he has served as Co-President of the Company. Until 2010, for over ten years, Mr. Lindner served as President, and since 2010, Mr. Lindner has served as CEO of AFG's Property and Casualty Insurance Group and has been principally responsible for the Company's property and casualty insurance operations.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: The Board believes that Mr. Lindner's familiarity with the Company as a whole, as well as his experience and expertise in its core property and casualty insurance businesses, makes his service on the Board of Directors extremely beneficial to the Company.



Age: 67 Director Since 1985

S. Craig Lindner

Key Experience: Mr. Lindner has been Co-Chief Executive Officer since January 2005, and since 1996, he has served as Co-President of the Company. Mr. Lindner served as President of Great American Financial Resources, Inc., a subsidiary of the Company, for more than ten years prior to 2018 when he was elected Chief Executive Officer and was principally responsible for the Company's annuity operations until their sale in 2021. Until 2011, for over ten years, Mr. Lindner served as President of American Money Management Corporation ("AMMC"), a subsidiary that provides investment services for the Company and certain of its affiliated companies, and Mr. Lindner continues to be primarily responsible for the Company's investment portfolio.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: The Board believes that Mr. Lindner's familiarity with the Company as a whole, as well as his experience and expertise in the Company's investment portfolio, makes his service on the Board of Directors extremely beneficial to the Company.



Gregory G. Joseph

Lead Independent Director Since 2019

Age: 59 Director Since 2008

Board Committees: Audit (Chair) **Key Experience:** Mr. Joseph, an attorney, has been an executive and a principal of various automotive retailers in the Greater Cincinnati, Ohio area known as the Joseph Automotive Group for more than five years. Since 2005, Mr. Joseph has served on the Board of Trustees of Xavier University, a private university located in Cincinnati, Ohio. He served on the board of directors of Infinity Property & Casualty Corporation, an insurance company primarily offering personal automobile insurance which was purchased by Kemper Corp. in 2018, from 2003 to 2008, the last two years as the lead director.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: Mr. Joseph's service as a lead director of a publicly traded provider of insurance products provided him with significant knowledge of and experience in the business operations of a publicly-traded insurance holding company, which is beneficial to the Company in light of the many issues applicable to the insurance industry. Additionally, Mr. Joseph's extensive background and experience at public and private businesses enable him to provide to the Board insights and advice on the broad variety of situations and issues that the Board faces.



Age: 59 Director Since 2012

John B. Berding

Key Experience: Mr. Berding was elected President of AMMC in January 2011. Prior to his election as President, he held a number of investment-related executive positions with AMMC and other AFG subsidiaries. Mr. Berding has over 30 years of experience as an investment professional, and he has spent his entire career with the Company and its affiliates.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: The Board values Mr. Berding's knowledge of financial markets and investment management as well as his specific knowledge of the Company's investment portfolio and strategy and has determined that his ability to contribute his experience on a constant basis as a member of the Board are invaluable to the Company.



James E. Evans

Age: 76 Director Since 1985 **Key Experience:** Mr. Evans has served as an Executive Consultant to the Company since 2014. From 1994 through 2013, Mr. Evans served as Senior Vice President of the Company, and he also served as General Counsel until March 2012 when he was elected Executive Counsel. Prior to that, he served as Vice President and General Counsel of American Financial Corporation, the predecessor to AFG, beginning in 1976. Mr. Evans also previously served on the Boards of Directors of The Penn Central Corporation, Citicasters, Inc. and other companies affiliated with the Company. He began his career in the private practice of law with Keating Muething & Klekamp PLL in 1971.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: The Board believes that Mr. Evans' many years of experience with complex legal and business issues involving the Company specifically, as well as his legal and business expertise generally, render his Board service invaluable to the Company.



Terry S. Jacobs Age: 79

Director Since 2003

Board Committees: Compensation (Chair) Audit **Key Experience:** Mr. Jacobs has served as Chairman and CEO of The JFP Group, LLC, a real estate development company, since September 2005. From its founding in 1996 until September 2005, Mr. Jacobs was Chairman of the Board and CEO of Regent Communications, Inc., a public holding company in the radio broadcasting business. From September 2010 through September 2015, he served as non-executive Chairman of the Board of Adelante Media Group, LLC, a private company which owns and operates radio and television stations and specializes in Spanish language programming. Mr. Jacobs serves as Chair of the Actuarial Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the Ohio Bureau of Workers' Compensation (BWC) Board of Directors, is a Fellow of the Casualty Actuarial Society, a professional organization focused on applying actuarial science to property, casualty and similar risk exposures and is a Member of the American Academy of Actuaries.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: Mr. Jacobs' principal executive officer experience qualifies him for membership on the Company's Board and as an "audit committee financial expert" under SEC guidelines. In his career, Mr. Jacobs has significant chief executive officer experience and has held board positions for 10 public companies, six private companies and nine charitable organizations. Mr. Jacobs has significant experience in understanding and critically assessing risks in the property and casualty insurance industry, which the Board believes is valuable to the Company.



Mary Beth Martin

Age: 59 Director Since 2019

Board Committees: Corporate Governance Compensation **Key Experience:** Ms. Martin has served as the Executive Director of the Farmer Family Foundation in Cincinnati, Ohio since 2008. In that role, she manages the organization's philanthropic goals and objectives, and oversees grant investments. For over 20 years, Ms. Martin previously served in the banking and commercial real estate industries where she led commercial real estate, private bank, trust, and asset management groups at regional banking institutions. Ms. Martin is active in her community and currently serves on the Board of Directors of a number of charitable organizations, including Accelerate Great Schools, where she also serves as Secretary and Treasurer, Music Hall Revitalization Corporation, Teach for America Ohio and Ohio Excels.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: The Board believes that Ms. Martin's management experience in various sectors as well as her financial, investment and commercial real estate experience will significantly benefit the Board of Directors.



Amy Y. Murray

Age: 57 Director Since 2021

Board Committees: Corporate Governance

Key Experience: Ms. Murray has over 35 years of leadership experience in the corporate world and in local and federal government. She most recently served as Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense/Deputy, Industrial Policy (from June 2020 to January 2021) and Director of the Office of Small Business (from March 2020 to January 2021) for the U.S. Department of Defense. During 2011 and from 2013-2020, Ms. Murray was a member of the Cincinnati, Ohio City Council serving at various times as chair or vice chair of numerous committees, including the Economic Growth and Zoning Committee, the Major Transportation and Regional Cooperation Committee, the Budget and Finance Committee and the Law and Public Safety Committee. Also, from 2000-2014, she served as founder and chief consultant of The Japan Consulting Group which provides services regarding strategies for successful business relationships with Japanese companies, both in Japan and the United States. Prior to such time, Ms. Murray spent 14 years in various positions at the Proctor & Gamble Company, a leading multinational manufacturer of consumerpackaged goods, including as manager of Global Business Development for Asia and Global Customer Business Development. Ms. Murray is active in the community having served on the boards of several charitable organizations including Cincinnati Zoo and Botanical Society and Boy Scouts of America - Dan Beard Council.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: The Board believes that Ms. Murray's diverse skill set, including government affairs, public relations, corporate, financial consulting and community engagement will help to guide the Company through numerous opportunities in the years to come.



Evans N. Nwankwo

Age: 63 Director Since 2020

Board Committees: Corporate Governance

Key Experience: Mr. Nwankwo has worked in the commercial construction industry for nearly 40 years and is the Founder and President of Megen Construction Company, one of the region's premier builders. Megen Construction provides a full range of services including construction management, design/build, general contracting, estimating and program management, and was the first LEED Platinum builder in the State of Ohio. Megen Construction is a top-ten minorityowned business in Greater Cincinnati. Mr. Nwankwo is active in his community and is the founder of NuWay Foundation, a charitable organization focused on improving the lives and economic conditions of the less fortunate in African villages through health, opportunity, pure water and education (H.O.P.E.), with focused outreach efforts in Awa, Nigeria. He has also served on the Board of Directors of a number of charitable organizations, including the American Red Cross (Cincinnati Chapter) and the University of Cincinnati College of Arts & Sciences.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: As a business owner, entrepreneur and first-generation immigrant, the Board believes that Mr. Nwankwo brings a distinctively unique and diverse perspective to risk assessment and management, which we believe is a valuable addition to our Board.



William W. Verity

Age: 63 Director Since 2002

Board Committees: Corporate Governance (Chair) Compensation **Key Experience:** Mr. Verity has been President of Verity Investment Partners, an investment management company, since 2002, and prior to that, he was a partner of Pathway Guidance L.L.C., an executive consulting firm, from October 2000. Previously, Mr. Verity was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ENCOR Holdings, Inc., a developer and manufacturer of plastic molded components and worked as an associate in corporate finance at Alex. Brown & Sons, an investment bank, from 1985 to 1987. He previously served on the Board of Directors of Chiquita Brands International, Inc., an international food products marketer and distributor.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: Mr. Verity's position as the principal executive officer of a privately held company and his over ten years of executive and Board experience with complex asset management issues, qualify him for membership on the Company's Board and Corporate Governance and Compensation Committees. In addition, Mr. Verity's executive consulting experience provides him with insight into high-level corporate governance, executive compensation matters and business management matters, all of which the Company and the Board deal with on a regular basis.



John I. Von Lehman

Age: 69 Director Since 2008

Board Committees: Audit Corporate Governance **Key Experience:** Mr. Von Lehman began his career as a certified public accountant for Haskins & Sells, a predecessor of Deloitte, LLP. For more than five years until his retirement in 2007, Mr. Von Lehman served as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and a director of The Midland Company, an Ohio-based provider of specialty insurance products ("Midland"). He served on the Board of Directors and as Chairman of the Audit Committee of Ohio National Mutual Funds until 2016 and is involved with several Cincinnati-based charitable organizations.

Key Qualifications, Attributes and Skills: Mr. Von Lehman's 18 years of service as CFO and director of another publicly traded provider of insurance products qualifies him for membership on the Company's Board. Specifically, Mr. Von Lehman's position at Midland provided him with significant knowledge of and experience in property and casualty insurance operations, investment portfolio oversight, capital management and allocation and public company financial statement preparation. In his capacity as a certified public accountant and Chief Financial Officer of Midland, Mr. Von Lehman developed significant experience in preparing, auditing, analyzing and evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that compare to those of the Company and which qualify him as an "audit committee financial expert" under SEC guidelines. The depth in his understanding of internal control over financial reporting and risk assessment skills that evolved in his experience with Midland constitute attributes that the Board believes benefit the Company.

The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote FOR the election of these 11 nominees as directors.

Proposal No. 2 - Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Company's Audit Committee Charter requires that the Audit Committee appoint annually an independent registered public accounting firm to serve as auditors. In February 2022, the Audit Committee appointed Ernst & Young LLP to serve as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for 2022.

Although the Audit Committee has the sole authority to appoint auditors, shareholders are being asked to ratify this appointment. If the shareholders do not ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee will take that fact into consideration but may determine to continue to retain Ernst & Young. However, the Audit Committee in its discretion may engage a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if the Audit Committee determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the Company whether or not the shareholders ratify the appointment.

Audit Fees and Non-Audit Fees

The following table presents fees for professional services performed by Ernst & Young for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

	2021	2020
Audit fees ⁽¹⁾	\$7,648,000	\$ 9,021,000
Audit related fees	—	120,000
Tax fees ⁽²⁾	488,000	546,000
All other fees ⁽³⁾	437,000	409,000
Total	\$8,573,000	\$10,096,000

- (1) These aggregate fees were for audits of the financial statements (including services incurred to render an opinion under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), subsidiary insurance company audits, reviews of SEC filings, and quarterly reviews.
- (2) These fees relate primarily to tax compliance engagements for preparation and review of foreign tax returns and certain collateralized loan obligations, in addition to other tax advisory services.
- (3) These fees relate primarily to agreed-upon procedure engagements for certain collateralized loan obligation structures managed by AFG.

Representatives of Ernst & Young are expected to be at the meeting and will be given the opportunity to make a statement if they so desire. They will also be available to respond to appropriate questions from shareholders.

The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote FOR the ratification of the Audit Committee's appointment of Ernst & Young as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2022.

Proposal No. 3 - Advisory Vote on Compensation of our Named Executive Officers

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act requires that we provide our shareholders with the opportunity to vote to approve, on a non-binding, advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement in accordance with the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC (commonly referred to as "Say-on-Pay"). Our practice, which our shareholders re-approved on an advisory basis by a vote of over 89% of votes cast at the 2017 annual meeting, is to conduct this non-binding vote on an annual basis. At our 2023 annual meeting, we intend to seek shareholder approval of our practice of conducting the Sayon-Pay vote on an annual basis.

As described in detail below under the heading "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" beginning on page 22 of this proxy statement, we seek to closely align the interests of our named executive officers with the interests of our shareholders. We structure our programs to discourage excessive risk-taking through a balanced use of compensation vehicles and metrics with an overall goal of delivering sustained long-term shareholder value while aligning our executives' interests with those of our shareholders. Further, our programs require that a substantial portion of each named executive officer's compensation be contingent on delivering performance results that benefit our shareholders. Our compensation programs are designed to reward our named executive officers for achieving short-term and long-term strategic and operational goals designed to achieve increasing total shareholder return. Shareholders should note that, because the advisory vote on executive compensation occurs well

2022 Proxy Statement | Proposals

after the beginning of the compensation year and because the different elements of our executive compensation programs are designed to operate in an integrated manner and to complement one another, in many cases it may not be appropriate or feasible to change our executive compensation programs in consideration of any one year's advisory vote on executive compensation by the time of the following year's annual meeting of shareholders.

The vote on this matter is not intended to address any specific element of compensation; rather, the vote relates to the compensation of our named executive officers, as described in this proxy statement in accordance with the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC. The vote is advisory, which means that the vote is not binding on the Company, our Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee. The Board and the Compensation Committee will review and consider the voting results when making future decisions regarding our executive compensation program.

Accordingly, we ask our shareholders to approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of the named executive officers, as disclosed in this proxy statement pursuant to the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the Summary Compensation Table and the other related tables and disclosure.

The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote FOR the approval of the compensation of our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement.

Company Information

Management

The directors, nominees for director and executive officers of the Company are as follows.

Name	Age	Position	Director or Executive Since
	(0	C. Clifferentin Officer C. Berlinster (Director	1070
Carl H. Lindner III	68	Co-Chief Executive Officer, Co-President and Director	1979
S. Craig Lindner	67	Co-Chief Executive Officer, Co-President and Director	1980
John B. Berding	59	President of American Money Management Corporation and Director	2012
Gregory G. Joseph	59	Lead Independent Director	2008
James E. Evans	76	Director	1976
Terry S. Jacobs	79	Director	2003
Mary Beth Martin	59	Director	2019
Amy Y. Murray	57	Director	2021
Evans N. Nwankwo	63	Director	2020
William W. Verity	63	Director	2002
John I. Von Lehman	69	Director	2008
Michelle A. Gillis	53	Senior Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer and Chief Administrative Officer	2013
Brian S. Hertzman	51	Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2020
Vito C. Peraino	66	Senior Vice President and General Counsel	2012
David L. Thompson, Jr.	42	President and Chief Operating Officer of Property & Casualty Insurance Group	2022

Mr. Carl H. Lindner III and Mr. S. Craig Lindner are brothers, and Mr. Carl H. Lindner III is also the father-in-law of David L. Thompson, Jr.

Michelle A. Gillis was appointed Chief Human Resources Officer in 2022 and became Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of the Company in March 2013. She has responsibility for human resources, including talent management, total rewards and diversity, equity and inclusion. She also oversees corporate marketing and branding, real estate and numerous shared services areas. Since joining Great American Insurance Company in 2004, Ms. Gillis held various senior human resource management positions. Previously, Ms. Gillis spent several years in senior human resources roles in the financial services sector. Ms. Gillis holds an active accreditation as Senior Professional in Human Resources (SPHR) from the Human Resources Certification Institute.

Brian S. Hertzman became Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company in August 2020. Prior to his election, he served as Vice President of the Company since 2014 and Controller since 2012. Mr. Hertzman, a licensed certified public accountant (inactive), joined AFG in 1991 and has held positions of increasing responsibility within the Company's finance and accounting areas during his nearly 30-year tenure. As Vice President and Controller of AFG, Mr. Hertzman had responsibility for oversight of accounting policies and procedures in compliance with GAAP and other applicable regulations and financial reporting to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Vito C. Peraino became Senior Vice President and General Counsel of the Company in March 2012. He previously served as Senior Vice President of Great American Insurance Company since 2002 and Assistant General Counsel of Great American Insurance Company since 2004. Through September 2014, he also served on the Board of Directors of the Company's subsidiary, National Interstate Corporation. Since joining Great American Insurance Company in 1999, Mr. Peraino has held various executive claims management positions. Previously, Mr. Peraino spent several years in private practice and has represented various insurance industry entities as an attorney since 1981.

David L. Thompson, Jr. became President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company's Property and Casualty Insurance Group in February 2022. Mr. Thompson has served as Executive Vice President of the group since 2019. He joined the Company in 2006 and since that time, has held various positions of increasing responsibility within the group, including

Divisional President. In 2014, Mr. Thompson assumed senior reporting officer responsibilities as a Divisional Group President and was promoted in 2017 to Senior Vice President. While in these roles, he has worked directly with numerous specialty property and casualty businesses as well as several shared service functions, including reinsurance and predictive analytics.

Information regarding all nominees for director and directors is set forth beginning on page $\underline{2}$ under "Proposals — Proposal No. 1 — Election of 11 Directors."

2022 Proxy Statement | Company Information

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership of common shares by each of the Company's directors and the named executive officers and by all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group. The table also includes those who are known by the Company to own beneficially more than 5% of the issued and outstanding common shares. Except as otherwise provided below, information in the table is as of March 15, 2022, and, to the Company's knowledge, all common shares are beneficially owned and investment and voting power is held solely by the persons named as owners.

Name of Beneficial Owner/Group	Common Shares Beneficially Owned ⁽¹⁾	Percent of Class (* means less than 1%)
Directors and Named Executive Officers		
Carl H. Lindner III ⁽²⁾	5,470,183	6.4%
S. Craig Lindner ⁽³⁾	4,943,931	5.8%
John B. Berding ⁽⁴⁾	103,680	*
James E. Evans ⁽⁵⁾	111,364	*
Terry S. Jacobs	6,000	*
Gregory G. Joseph ⁽⁶⁾	113,367	*
Mary Beth Martin	4,978	*
Amy Y. Murray	_	*
Evans N. Nwankwo	1,131	*
William W. Verity	10,177	*
John I. Von Lehman	13,041	*
Michelle A. Gillis	59,236	*
Brian S. Hertzman	12,913	*
Vito C. Peraino ⁽⁷⁾	108,019	*
David L. Thompson, Jr. ⁽⁸⁾	1,959,273	2.3%
All Directors and Executive Officers as a group (15 persons) ⁽⁹⁾	12,456,253	14.6%
Other Beneficial Owners of More than 5% of the Common Shares		
Edyth B. Lindner ⁽¹⁰⁾	5,858,810	6.9%
BlackRock, Inc. (11)	6,281,983	7.4%
FMR LLC ⁽¹²⁾	5,085,933	6.0%
The Vanguard Group ⁽¹³⁾	7,231,239	8.5%

(1) Includes the following numbers of shares that may be acquired within 60 days of March 15, 2022 through the exercise of options held by such person: John B. Berding – 28,417; Michell A. Gillis – 12,551 and Vito C. Peraino – 4,175. Also includes the following number of shares held in the Company's 401(k) Retirement and Savings Plan (RASP) (provided as of March 1, 2022): S. Craig Lindner – 47,074; John B. Berding – 25,040 and Brian S. Hertzman – 3,116. For Mr. Berding and Mr. Hertzman, shares owned excludes shares held in the RASP, for which each serves on the Administrative Plan Committee, other than those shares allocated to his personal RASP account.

(2) Includes 2,498,173 shares held in trusts over which he holds voting and dispositive power; 343,162 shares held by a trust over which his spouse has voting and dispositive power; 838,480 shares held in a limited liability company over which shares he holds dispositive power; 461,194 shares held by a charitable foundation over which he shares voting

and dispositive power with his brother, S. Craig Lindner and his mother, Edyth B. Lindner; 8,999 shares held in trusts for family members over which he holds voting and dispositive power; 1,101,651 shares held in trusts over which shares he holds voting power; and 218,524 shares held in two charitable foundations over which he and/or his spouse have or share voting and dispositive power.

- (3) Includes 2,849,234 shares held in trusts over which he has voting and dispositive power; 134,044 shares held in a trust over which he has dispositive power; 116,426 shares held by a trust over which his spouse has voting and dispositive power; 461,194 shares held by a charitable foundation over which he shares voting and dispositive power with his brother, Carl H. Lindner III and his mother, Edyth B. Lindner; 6,000 shares held in trusts for family members over which he holds voting and dispositive power: 1,101,651 shares held in trusts over which shares he holds voting power; and 228,308 shares held by a charitable foundation over which he shares voting and dispositive power with his spouse.
- (4) Includes 1,899 held by family trusts.
- (5) Includes 10,226 shares held in trust.
- (6) Includes 65,009 shares held by companies in which he is a minority shareholder and for which he serves as an executive officer or director, 3,000 shares held by a family partnership in which he holds a 25% interest and 3,561 shares held as trustee in a trust for the benefit of family members. Does not include 96,714 shares held by Mr. Joseph's father for which Mr. Joseph holds a power of attorney; Mr. Joseph disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares.
- (7) Includes 19,588 shares held by spouse.
- (8) Includes 1,866,356 shares held in trusts for family members where he or his spouse has voting and dispositive power, 60,084 shares held in a charitable trust where his wife shares voting and dispositive power and 29,036 shares held by his spouse as custodian for his minor children.
- (9) Shares held by all directors, nominees and executive officers as a group is calculated by counting shares over which Carl H. Lindner III and S. Craig Lindner share voting and dispositive power only once.
- (10) Includes 2,092,662 shares held in her trust over which she has voting and dispositive power. Also includes 461,194 shares held in a charitable foundation over which she shares voting and dispositive power with her sons, Carl H. Lindner III and S. Craig Lindner and 3,304,954 shares held in trusts over which she has dispositive power. The address for Mrs. Lindner is 301 East Fourth Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202.
- (11) Based solely on information contained in a Schedule 13G amendment filed with the SEC on February 1, 2022 by BlackRock, Inc. reporting sole voting power of 5,840,004 shares and sole dispositive power of 6,281,983 shares. The address for BlackRock, Inc. is 55 East 52nd Street, New York, NY, 10055.
- (12) Based solely on information contained in a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 9, 2022. FMR is a parent holding company of certain entities as described in such Schedule 13G. FMR LLC has sole voting power over 349,021 common shares and sole dispositive power over 5,085,933 common shares. Abigail P. Johnson, who, together with other members of the Johnson family own shares representing 49% of the voting power of FMR LLC, has sole dispositive power over 5,085,933 common shares. The address for FMR LLC is 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts, 02210.
- (13) Based solely on information contained in a Schedule 13G amendment filed with the SEC on February 9, 2022 by The Vanguard Group reporting shared voting power of 49,852 shares, sole dispositive power of 7,135,344 shares and shared dispositive power of 95,895 shares. The address for The Vanguard Group is 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, Pennsylvania, 19355.

2022 Proxy Statement | Company Information

Corporate Governance

Leadership Structure

Management

The Company has two principal executive officers, Carl H. Lindner III and S. Craig Lindner. Each has been designated as a Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President of the Company, and each also serves on the Board of Directors.

The Board recognizes that having two principal executive officers is not customary for public companies, including the Company's peers, but the Board has determined for the reasons set forth below that the executive leadership structure is both appropriate for the Company and optimal for achieving corporate objectives. The Company does not have a separate, non-principal executive officer, president or chief operating officer, and the Company also does not have numerous additional senior officer designations prevalent at other public companies. The Board has noted that these positions are not needed at the Company because the Co-CEOs have assumed responsibility for these roles.

Carl H. Lindner III serves as CEO of AFG's Property and Casualty Insurance Group and is primarily responsible for AFG's property and casualty insurance operations and investor relations. S. Craig Lindner serves as CEO of Great American Financial Resources, Inc. and is primarily responsible for AFG's investment portfolio and heavily involved in capital management and strategic planning. Each Co-CEO functions within a clearly defined role with respect to the day-to-day operations of the Company, and both Co-CEOs work closely with one another and are significantly involved in all aspects of Company management. The Co-CEOs work together with regard to overall corporate strategy and planning, as well as in assessing and managing enterprise risks. Because of their close working relationship, either Co-CEO could assume the additional responsibilities of the other for some period of time in the event such a need arose.

The Board of Directors believes that the Company's leadership structure aids in succession planning and provides the Company with significant executive depth and leadership experience. The Board continues to determine that the Company's leadership structure is currently the most appropriate for the Company.

Board of Directors

The Board does not currently have a Chairperson. Additionally, the Board does not have a formal policy as to whether the same person may serve as both the principal executive officer of the Company and Chairperson. At the present time, the Board does not believe that such a policy is necessary because of its determination that the current Board membership, together with the Company's management, possesses the requisite leadership and industry skills, expertise and experiences to effectively oversee the business and affairs of the Company. The Board believes that this flexibility is in the best interest of the Company and that a one-size-fits-all approach to corporate governance, with a mandated independent Chairperson, would not result in better governance or oversight.

In 2019, upon a recommendation from the Corporate Governance Committee, the Board amended the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines to provide for the selection of a Lead Director from the independent directors at times where the Company has no Chairperson or no independent Chairperson. The Lead Independent Director is appointed annually and is generally expected to serve for more than one year. The Lead Independent Director has the authority to call meetings of the nonemployee directors and to preside over such meetings. When the Chairperson, or in the absence of a Chairperson, the Co-CEOs, are absent, the Lead Independent Director presides over meetings of the Board.

2022 Proxy Statement | Corporate Governance

The Lead Independent Director, among other delineated responsibilities:

- Serves as a liaison between the non-employee directors and the Co-CEOs, without inhibiting direct communication between them, including providing feedback and counsel regarding interactions with the Board.
- > Consults on Board meeting agendas and other information sent to the Board.
- > Reviews the quality, quantity, appropriateness and timeliness of information provided to the Board.
- Consults on and approves Board meeting schedules to ensure there is sufficient time for discussion of all agenda items.
- Facilitates discussion and open dialogue among the independent directors during Board meetings, executive sessions and outside of Board meetings.
- > Maintains availability, when appropriate, for consultation and direct communication with shareholders.
- Communicates with the Co-CEOs and, as appropriate, regarding significant matters including decisions reached, suggestions, views or concerns expressed by non-employee directors in executive sessions or outside of Board meetings.

Board of Directors and Committees

There are 11 members on the Board of Directors. The Board met 12 times during 2021. Incumbent directors attended an average of approximately 99% of total Board and committee meetings to which he or she was appointed and served during 2021. The members of the Board are expected to be present at the annual meeting. All of the Directors attended last year's annual meeting by remote communication which permitted their ability to respond to shareholder questions.

The committees of the Board consist of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance Committee. Each committee is governed by a charter that defines its role and responsibilities and are available on the Company's website at www.AFGinc.com under "About Us—Leadership and Governance – Board Committees." A printed copy of these charters may be obtained by shareholders upon written request addressed to the Company's Secretary, at the address set forth under "Board Communications" in the Proxy Statement Summary

The following table identifies membership and the Chairperson of each of the current committees of the Board, as well as the number of times each committee met during 2021.

Director	Lead Independent Director	Audit Committee	Compensation Committee	Corporate Governance Committee
Terry S. Jacobs		Member	Chair	
Gregory G. Joseph	*	Chair		
Mary Beth Martin			Member	Member
Amy Y. Murray				Member
Evans N. Nwankwo				Member
William W. Verity			Member	Chair
John I. Von Lehman		Member		Member
Meetings in 2021		9	8	4

2022 Proxy Statement | Corporate Governance

Primary responsibilities of each committee include:

Audit Committee

- Oversees the Company's accounting and financial reporting processes, audits of the financial statements, and internal controls over financial reporting.
- Appoints the Company's independent registered public accounting firm and oversees the relationship, including by monitoring the auditor's independence, establishing the auditor's compensation and reviewing the scope of the auditor's work, including pre-approval of audit and non-audit services.
- Reviews and discusses with our management and independent registered public accounting firm, the Company's interim and audited annual financial statements, and recommends to the Board whether the audited annual financial statements should be included in the Company's annual report on Form 10-K.
- Reviews management's report on its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and the independent public accounting firm's report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
- Reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's internal controls, including a review of the scope and results of its program.
- Reviews and approves or ratifies all transactions with related persons that are required to be disclosed in the proxy statement.
- > Reviews and discusses with management and the independent auditors earnings press releases.
- Discusses with management the Company's guidelines and policies related to enterprise risk assessment and risk management and assists the Board of Directors in its oversight of the Company's enterprise risk management process.

Compensation Committee

- > Monitors adherence to the Company's compensation philosophy.
- > Ensures that the total compensation paid to the named executive officers is fair, reasonable and competitive.
- Oversees the Company's stock incentive plans, incentive plans covering senior executive officers and deferred compensation plans.
- Reviews and approves corporate goals and objectives relevant to CEO compensation, evaluates CEO performance in light of those goals and objectives, and determines and approves CEO compensation level(s) based on this evaluation.
- ➤ Has the sole authority to retain or obtain the advice of a compensation consultant, outside legal counsel and any other advisors for assistance in carrying out its responsibilities.

Corporate Governance Committee

- > Establishes criteria for selecting new directors and identifies individuals qualified to be Board members as needed.
- Recommends director nominees for the next annual meeting of shareholders, the appointment and removal of members of the Board committees and the amount and form of compensation to non-management directors.
- Reviews the reporting structure, operations and charters for each of the Board committees and recommends changes to the full Board.
- Develops, recommends to the full Board and oversees an annual self-evaluation process of the Board and its committees.
- Advises the Board in connection with succession planning for the Co-CEOs and other key executives.
- Advises the Board with respect to environmental and social risks and governance (ESG), stewardship and sustainability issues in order to assist in the development and refinement of the Company's strategies and policies in these areas.

Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee oversees the Company's financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of Directors. The Company's management has the primary responsibility for the financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for assessing the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Committee reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated financial statements and the related schedules in the Annual Report with Company management, including a discussion of the quality, not just the acceptability, of the accounting principles; the reasonableness of significant judgments; and the clarity of disclosures in the financial statements.

The Committee is comprised solely of independent directors as defined by the NYSE listing standards and Rule 10A-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

The members of the Committee are Gregory G. Joseph (Chairperson), Terry S. Jacobs and John I. Von Lehman. The Board has determined that two of the Audit Committee's members, Mr. Jacobs and Mr. Von Lehman, are each considered to be an "audit committee financial expert" as defined under SEC rules.

The meetings of the Committee are designed to facilitate and encourage communication among the Committee, the Company, the Company's internal audit function and the Company's independent auditor. The Audit Committee schedules its meetings with a view to ensuring that it devotes appropriate attention to all of its tasks. These meetings include, whenever appropriate, executive sessions in which the Audit Committee meets separately with the independent auditors, internal auditors and management personnel.

In addition, the Audit Committee reviews key initiatives and programs aimed at maintaining the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Together with senior members of the Company's management team, the Audit Committee reviews the plans of the internal auditors, the results of internal audit examinations and evaluations by management and the Company's independent auditors of the Company's internal control over financial reporting and the quality of the Company's financial reporting. As part of this process, the Audit Committee monitors the scope and adequacy of the Company's internal auditing program, including reviewing internal audit department staffing levels and steps taken to maintain the effectiveness of internal procedures and controls.

The Audit Committee recognizes the importance of maintaining the independence of the Company's

independent auditor, both in fact and appearance. Each year, the Committee evaluates the qualifications, performance and independence of the Company's independent auditor and determines whether to re-engage the current independent auditor. In doing so, the Audit Committee considers the quality and efficiency of the services provided by the auditors, the auditors' capabilities and the auditors' technical expertise. In addition, the Committee has discussed with the independent auditor the firm's independence from Company management and the Company, including the matters in the letter from the firm required by PCAOB Rule 3526, Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence, and considered the compatibility of non-audit services with the independent auditor's independence.

The Committee reviewed and discussed together with management and the independent auditor the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the results of management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting and the independent auditor's audit of internal control over financial reporting.

The Committee also reviewed with the independent auditor, which is responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of the audited consolidated financial statements and related schedules with US generally accepted accounting principles, its judgments as to the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company's accounting principles and such other matters as are required to be discussed with the Committee by the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), including PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 16, Communications With Audit Committees, the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and other applicable regulations.

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Committee recommended to the Board of Directors, and the Board has approved, that the audited consolidated financial statements and related schedules and management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Members of the Audit Committee:

Gregory G. Joseph, Chairperson Terry S. Jacobs John I. Von Lehman

Majority Voting for Directors

All directors stand for election each year. Directors are elected by a plurality of votes received. The Company's Regulations require that a director who receives a greater number of votes cast against than cast for shall continue to serve on the Board pursuant to Ohio law but must tender his or her resignation to the Company's Board of Directors. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will make a recommendation to the Board of Directors on whether to accept or reject the resignation, or whether other action should be taken. The Board of Directors will act on the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee's recommendation and publicly disclose its decision and the rationale behind it within 90 days from the date of the certification of the election results. The director who tenders his or her resignation will not participate in the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee's or Board of Director's decision.

Director Nomination Process and Qualifications of Candidates

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines identify some of the criteria used to evaluate prospective nominees for director. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines are available on the Company's website at www.AFGinc.com.

Nominees for director will be recommended by the Corporate Governance Committee in accordance with the principles in its charter and the Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Corporate Governance Committee will consider suitability for membership on the Board on a caseby-case basis. Although the Committee does not prescribe minimum qualifications or standards for directors, candidates for Board membership should have the highest personal and professional integrity, demonstrated exceptional ability and judgment, and availability and willingness to take the time necessary to properly discharge the duties of a director. The Board seeks candidates with diverse experiences, qualifications, backgrounds and skills that the Board believes enable each candidate to make a significant contribution to the Board.

The Corporate Governance guidelines specifically provide that the Board will also consider diverse Board candidates, including women and minorities, and individuals from both corporate positions and non-traditional environments such as government, academia and nonprofit organizations. Each independent director elected to the Board since 2013 has been a woman or a minority.

The Corporate Governance Committee does not have a policy with regard to the consideration of director candidates recommended by shareholders because Ohio law and the Company's Regulations afford shareholders certain rights related to such matters. The Regulations provide that to be eligible for election at a meeting of shareholders, candidates must be nominated by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or nominated by a shareholder who has complied with the procedures set forth in the Regulations. Procedures that shareholders must follow to nominate a director candidate are set forth on page <u>47</u> under, "Other Matters—Submitting Shareholder Proposals for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders."

The Committee will make its determinations on whether to nominate an individual in the context of the Board as a whole based on the Board's then-current needs, the merits of each such candidate and the qualifications of other available candidates. The Committee has no obligation to respond to shareholders who propose candidates that it has determined not to nominate for election to the Board, but the Committee may do so in its sole discretion. All director candidates are evaluated similarly, whether nominated by the Board or by a shareholder.

The Corporate Governance Committee did not seek, nor did it receive the recommendation of, any of the director candidates named in this proxy statement from any shareholder, independent director, executive officer or third-party search firm in connection with its own approval of such candidates. The Company has not paid any fee to a third party to assist it in identifying or evaluating nominees.

Director Independence

In accordance with NYSE rules, the Board affirmatively determines the independence of each director and nominee for election as a director in accordance with guidelines it has adopted, which guidelines comply with the NYSE listing standards. For a director to be considered independent, the Board must determine affirmatively that a director does not have any material relationship with the Company directly or as a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Company. A material relationship can include, but is not limited to, commercial, industrial, banking, consulting, legal, accounting, charitable and family relationships. Based on these standards, the Board has determined that each of Ms. Martin. Ms. Murray and Messrs. Jacobs, Joseph, Nwankwo, Verity and Von Lehman, is independent and has no material relationship with the Company, except as a director and shareholder of the Company.

In reaching its independence determinations for 2021, the Committee considered that the Company purchased vehicles from, and had vehicles serviced by, automobile dealerships affiliated with a company of which Mr. Joseph is an executive and part owner. The small amounts involved in these transactions, which were approved by the Audit Committee as transactions with a related party despite not requiring disclosure pursuant to SEC Regulation S-K Item 404, were deemed by AFG's Board of Directors not to

2022 Proxy Statement | Corporate Governance

be material. See our policies regarding transactions with related parties as set forth below under, "Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons" on page <u>21</u>.

Other Corporate Governance Matters, Practices and Procedures

Risk Oversight

The Company believes a role of management, including the named executive officers, is to identify and manage risks confronting the Company. The Board of Directors plays an integral part in the Company's risk oversight, primarily in reviewing the processes used by management to identify and report risk, and also in monitoring corporate actions so as to minimize inappropriate levels of risk.

The Company's Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process is overseen by a risk officer with the input of senior leaders representing significant areas from throughout the organization including operational, financial, accounting, human resources, investments, information technology and information security.

The risk officer, together with the Company's ERM committees and individual senior leader risk owners, annually reviews the top organizational risks and determines whether to add any new significant risks or to prioritize any identified risks. The risk officer, through regular meetings with senior leaders of the Company, monitors these risks, as well as any other significant and emerging risks that may arise during the year, and provides an ERM report to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. Also, in light of evolving threats to corporate cybersecurity, the Board and Audit Committee receive reports from the Company's Chief Information Security Officer regarding cybersecurity risks and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such risks. The Audit Committee regularly dedicates a portion of its meetings to review and discuss the Company's cybersecurity program.

The Company's leadership structure and overall corporate governance framework is designed to aid the Board in its oversight of management responsibility for risk. The Audit Committee serves a key risk oversight function in carrying out its review of the Company's financial reporting and internal reporting processes, as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Inherently, part of this review involves an evaluation of whether our financial reporting and internal reporting systems are adequately reporting the Company's exposure to certain risks. In connection with this evaluation, the Audit Committee has, from time to time, considered whether any changes to these processes are necessary or desirable. While it has concluded that no such changes are warranted at this time, the Audit Committee will continue to monitor the Company's financial reporting and internal reporting processes. In addition, pursuant to its charter, the Audit Committee is

responsible for discussing with management the guidelines and policies related to enterprise risk assessment and risk management.

As more fully described under "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" in this proxy statement, the Compensation Committee takes an active role in overseeing risks relating to AFG's executive compensation programs, plans and practices. Specifically, the Compensation Committee reviews the risk profile of the components of the executive compensation program, including the performance objectives and target levels used in connection with incentive awards, and considers the risks an executive officer might be incentivized to take with respect to such components with special attention given to establishing a mix among these components that does not encourage excessive risk taking.

The Corporate Governance Committee contributes to the Company's risk oversight process by reviewing the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines and Board committee charters at least annually to ensure that they continue to comply with any applicable laws, regulations, and stock exchange or other listing standards, as each are subject to change from time to time. The Corporate Governance Committee also oversees the director nomination process, the overall Board reporting structure and the operations of the individual committees.

Code of Ethics, Code of Conduct and Corporate Governance Principles

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to all employees. Annually, directors and all employees certify that they have read and are in compliance with our Code of Ethics.

The Company has also adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Code and Guidelines are available on the Company's website at www.AFGinc.com, under "About Us —Leadership and Governance." A printed copy of the Code and Guidelines may be obtained by shareholders upon written request to the Corporate Secretary at the address as set forth under, "Board Communications" in the Proxy Statement Summary. We intend to satisfy any disclosure requirements regarding any amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of the Code by posting such information on our website as promptly as practicable, as may be required by applicable SEC and NYSE rules.

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability

Creating long-term value for shareholders is AFG's highest business objective, and we are committed to doing so in a responsible and sustainable manner. For us, this commitment starts with recognizing that many of our business decisions affect people and organizations in the larger community. To provide more clarity regarding the Board's oversight of sustainability and Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) matters, the Board updated the charter of its Corporate Governance Committee to reflect its role. Our Corporate Governance Committee advises the Board with respect to environmental and social risks and governance, stewardship and sustainability issues in order to assist in the development and refinement of the Company's strategies and policies in these areas. Our entire Board of Directors and senior leaders also embrace external perspectives as part of making informed decisions to keep our business viable.

We sustain AFG's business success by effectively managing risk—financial, social, environmental—to help create stability for our customers and deliver value to our shareholders.

We focus our corporate responsibility and sustainability strategies in four primary areas where AFG can achieve the most direct and substantial results:

- Operating our business with integrity and managing financial risk;
- Giving back to our communities and promoting social opportunity;
- Creating a welcoming, rewarding and safe place to work and build a career; and
- Managing environmental risk and operating sustainably.

We believe that concentrating our efforts help us run our business more effectively, enhance our products, protect our customers, serve our communities and support over 7,500 employees in over 120 locations worldwide.

When confronting the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company seamlessly activated its business continuity plans and designated a COVID-19 response team. The COVID-19 response team quickly enacted work-from-home capabilities, alternate work locations and additional remote work options and communicated regularly with employees, and our operations remained fully functional.

The Company values diversity and recognizes the benefits derived when people with different cultures, backgrounds and experiences work together to achieve business results. Our Diversity and Equal Employment Opportunity Policy reinforces our commitment to attracting, developing and retaining a diverse workforce. This commitment governs all decisions related to employment, including requests for accommodations.

We have dedicated employees responsible for our diversity, equity and inclusion efforts who report directly to our Chief Human Resources Officer. The Chief Human Resources Officer reports regularly to the Board. More information regarding our corporate responsibility and sustainability efforts can be found on our website at <u>www.AFGinc.com</u> under "About Us—Corporate Social Responsibility" where you can review our Corporate Social Responsibility Report.

Shareholder Engagement

We maintain an ongoing, proactive outreach effort with our shareholders. Throughout the year, members of our Investor Relations team and our business leaders engage with our shareholders to help increase their understanding of our business and to remain well-informed regarding their perspectives. Management regularly engages with investors by participating in industry conferences. We also meet in person, virtually through online meetings and by telephone with shareholders at other times throughout the year to answer questions and solicit input on all matters of shareholder interest including ESG. We believe our engagement with shareholders has been productive and provides an open exchange of ideas and perspectives.

Director Education

The Corporate Governance Committee facilitates participation by directors in continuing education programs, including accredited director education programs paid by the Company and structured internal programs presented by management at least annually.

Annual Board Evaluation

The Corporate Governance Committee oversees the Company's annual Board evaluation process which is designed to elicit feedback and recommendations from the directors that will improve the effectiveness of the Board and each of its committees. The Corporate Governance Committee determines the manner of conducting Board evaluations annually. In recent years, evaluations have consisted of questionnaires or interviews of Board members, in each case conducted by outside counsel. The results of the evaluation are compiled by outside counsel and discussed with the Committees and with the full Board.

Executive Sessions

NYSE rules require independent directors to meet regularly in executive sessions. Four of these sessions were held during 2021. The lead independent director presides over each session.

Communications with Directors

The Board of Directors has adopted procedures for shareholders to send written communications to the Board as a group. Communications must be clearly addressed either to the Board of Directors, a committee of the Board or any or all of the independent directors and sent to either of the individuals as set forth under, "Board Communications" in the Proxy Statement Summary. Any communications except for spam, junk mail, mass mailings, resumes, job inquiries, surveys, business solicitations or advertisements, or patently offensive, hostile, threatening or otherwise unsuitable or inappropriate material will be forwarded.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No member of AFG's Compensation Committee was at any time during 2021 or at any other time an officer or employee of the Company, and none had any relationship with the Company requiring disclosure as a related-person transaction. None of our executive officers served on the compensation committee (or its equivalent) or board of directors of another entity that has, or had during any time during 2021, an executive officer who served as a member of our Board or our Compensation Committee.

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons

Stock exchange rules require that the Company conduct an appropriate review of all related party transactions (including those required to be disclosed by the Company pursuant to SEC Regulation S-K Item 404) for potential conflict of interest situations on an ongoing basis and that all such transactions must be reviewed and evaluated by the Audit Committee or another committee comprised of independent directors. The Audit Committee reviews and evaluates all transactions with related parties. In addition, our Audit Committee Charter provides that the Audit Committee review and approve all related party transactions involving directors, executive officers and significant shareholders of the Company that require disclosure pursuant to SEC Regulation S-K Item 404. In considering any transaction, the Committee may consider all relevant factors, including as applicable: the Company's business rationale for entering into the transaction; the alternatives to entering into a related person transaction; whether the transaction is on terms comparable to those available to third parties, or in the case of employment relationships, to employees generally; the potential for the transaction to lead to an actual or apparent conflict of interest and any safeguards imposed to prevent such actual or apparent conflicts; and the overall fairness of the transaction to the Company.

While the Company adheres to this policy for potential related person transactions, the policy is not in written form except as a part of listing agreements with the NYSE. However, approval of such related person transactions is evidenced by Audit Committee resolutions in accordance with our practice of reviewing and approving transactions in this manner. Other than as follows, there were no such transactions in 2021 requiring disclosure under applicable rules. During 2021, the Company employed a son of one of the Co-CEOs and a subsidiary of the Company employed the son-in-law of the other Co-CEO, both in executive positions, with such persons receiving salary and bonus of approximately \$940,000 and \$1,012,000 in 2021. Each individual also participates in employee benefit plans, including equity incentive plans, and is eligible to receive perquisites commensurate with his position and tenure with the Company.

A brother-in-law of S. Craig Lindner served as a Senior Vice President with Raymond James Financial, Inc until late 2021. During 2021, Raymond James received commissions of approximately \$260,000 for transactions made by the Company and its subsidiaries.

FC Cincinnati Holdings LLC and its subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, "FC Cincinnati") is a member of Major League Soccer and operates a professional soccer franchise in Cincinnati, Ohio. Carl H. Lindner III is the principal investor and Chief Executive Officer of FC Cincinnati and controls that entity by contract. The Company and its subsidiaries have several relationships with FC Cincinnati. In 2021, the Company purchased tickets and merchandise from FC Cincinnati at rates generally offered to the public as it has for many years purchased tickets and merchandise from other local professional franchises and universities. FC Cincinnati also purchases insurance policies from a subsidiary of the Company, and through a subsidiary insurance agency, under the same terms that would prevail between unrelated third parties. A brother of Mr. Joseph is a minority owner of FC Cincinnati.

Pre-Approval of Services Provided by the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Audit Committee has adopted policies that require preapproval for any audit and non-audit services to be provided to AFG by Ernst & Young LLP. The Audit Committee delegated authority to the Committee Chairperson to pre-approve certain non-audit services which arise between meetings of the Audit Committee. Pursuant to these procedures and delegation of authority, the Audit Committee was informed of and pre-approved all of the audit and other services described above. No services were provided with respect to the *de minimis* waiver process provided by rules of the SEC.

2022 Proxy Statement | Corporate Governance

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Named Executive Officers

In this section, we describe the material components of our executive compensation program for our named executive officers whose compensation is displayed in the 2021 Summary Compensation Table and the other compensation tables contained in this proxy statement. We also provide an overview of our executive compensation philosophy and we explain how and why the Compensation Committee arrives at specific compensation policies and decisions.

Our 2021 named executive officers are our Co-Chief Executive Officers ("Co-CEOs"), those persons who served as principal financial officer during 2021 and the three other most highly compensated executive officers employed at the end of 2021. These persons include:

- Carl H. Lindner III
 Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President (Co-Principal Executive Officer)
- S. Craig Lindner Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President (Co-Principal Executive Officer)
- John B. Berding
 President of American Money Management
- Michelle A. Gillis Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer
- Brian S. Hertzman Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
- Vito C. Peraino
 Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Overview of Compensation Program

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has responsibility for reviewing and approving the compensation paid to the Company's Co-CEOs and reviewing the compensation of the other Company senior executive officers and overseeing the executive compensation policies of the Company. The Compensation Committee also acts as the oversight committee with respect to the Company's cash and equity incentive plans. The Compensation Committee ensures that the total compensation paid to the named executive officers is fair, reasonable and competitive.

AFG's philosophy regarding executive compensation programs focuses on the balance of attracting, motivating, retaining and rewarding executives with a compensation package competitive among its peers and maximizing shareholder value by designing and implementing programs that tie compensation earned to the short-term and long-term performance of the Company. In linking pay to performance, the Compensation Committee compares the Company to a group of publicly-held insurance holding companies (collectively, the "Compensation Peer Group").

Guided by principles that reinforce the Company's pay-for-performance philosophy, named executive officer compensation includes base salary; annual performance-based cash awards; long-term stock incentives; cash awards based on long-term performance; and other compensation, including certain perquisites. A significant portion of each named executive officer's compensation is dependent upon the Company achieving business and financial goals.

The Compensation Committee views perquisites as an element of total compensation and, as such, would consider the elimination or diminution of any perquisite as a decrease in total compensation. The Compensation Committee, then, would seek to replace any such elimination or diminution with fixed compensation which, if designed to replace the value of the perquisite, may require salary increases which, on a pre-tax basis, would allow the named executive officers to replace the perquisite.

Compensation Consultant Engagement

In 2021, the Company engaged Pay Governance LLC ("Pay Governance") as its independent compensation consultant. The key objective of the Pay Governance engagement was to provide AFG with an outside independent assessment of existing executive compensation programs and processes for the Co-CEOs in the context of AFG's going-forward configuration as a specialty property and casualty insurance company following the sale of its annuity business.

Pay Governance provided advice and recommendations regarding the Company's compensation philosophy and strategies; advice on the Company's peer group; evaluation of performance metrics and peer performance; and analysis and recommendations regarding the Company's salaries, annual and long-term incentive compensation plans and executive benefits and perquisites for the Co-CEOs. Any changes following the Compensation Committee's consideration of the advice and recommendations of Pay Governance would take effect beginning in 2022.

The Compensation Committee has reviewed the independence of Pay Governance considering applicable SEC rules and NYSE listing standards regarding compensation consultant independence and has affirmatively concluded Pay Governance is independent from the Company and has no conflict of interest relating to its engagement.

CEO Compensation

The Company has Co-CEOs serving as principal executive officers. The Compensation Committee recognizes that the Company does not have a separate, non-principal executive officer president or chief operating officer, and the Company also does not have numerous additional senior officer designations seen at other public companies because the Co-CEOs have assumed responsibility for each such role. The Co-CEOs work together with regard to overall corporate strategy and planning, as well as in assessing and managing enterprise risks. Key factors affecting the Compensation Committee's judgment with respect to the Co-CEOs include the nature and scope of their responsibilities and their effectiveness in leading initiatives to effectively manage capital and increase sustainable shareholder value, productivity, profitability and growth. The design of the compensation programs for the Co-CEOs reflects the Company's leadership structure which is discussed in more detail above under "Company Information—Corporate Governance—Leadership Structure" beginning on page <u>14</u>.

With respect to the Co-CEOs, as in prior years, the Compensation Committee determined that the quantifiable measurements for each Co-CEO should be identical because the Compensation Committee believes that the Co-CEOs are ultimately jointly responsible for the achievement of the Company's objectives. Carl H. Lindner III also serves as CEO of AFG's Property and Casualty Insurance Group and is primarily responsible for AFG's property and casualty insurance operations and investor relations. S. Craig Lindner is primarily responsible for AFG's investment portfolio and heavily involved in capital management and strategic planning. Despite their different primary responsibilities, the Compensation Committee views the roles of the Co-CEOs as collaborative, as opposed to competitive, and does not seek to distinguish the performance of one from the other. Rather, the Compensation Committee scrutinized the Co-CEOs' collective role in AFG's achievement of operating targets, the development of management personnel, the performance of the investment portfolio and the development and implementation of strategic transactions and initiatives to enhance shareholder value.

The Compensation Committee believes that the evaluation by certain institutional investors and proxy advisory firms of the Company's pay for performance alignment is distorted by combining the compensation of the two Co-CEOs and representing that the combined compensation reflects "CEO" compensation. The Compensation Committee believes that this view skews compensation analysis and unfairly penalizes the Company for its leadership structure that the Company has determined is in the best interests of shareholders. As a result, when evaluating annual overall compensation to named executive officers, consistent with the approach of certain institutional investors and proxy advisory firms, the Compensation Committee considers the compensation of the highest-paid Co-CEO as "CEO compensation" and includes the other Co-CEO in its analysis as one of the three highest-paid, non-Chief Financial Officer officers.

Establishing Total Compensation Levels

The Compensation Committee believes, after discussions with the Co-CEOs, that compensation levels for the Co-CEOs should be based primarily upon the Compensation Committee's assessment of their leadership performance and potential to enhance long-term sustainable shareholder value. The Compensation Committee relies upon a combination of judgment and guidelines in determining the amount and mix of compensation elements for the Co-CEOs. The compensation levels for the other named executive officers are similarly determined by the Co-CEOs, and reviewed by the Compensation Committee, again based primarily upon the assessment of each named executive officer's leadership performance and potential to enhance long-term sustainable shareholder value.

The Compensation Committee and the Co-CEOs analyze peer groups, including the Compensation Peer Group, and industry pay rates at least annually in reviewing the appropriateness and competitiveness of the Company's compensation programs. In analyzing market pay levels among the Compensation Peer Group, the Compensation Committee factors into its analysis the variance in size (both in terms of revenues and market capitalization) among the companies.

The Compensation Committee utilizes the peer and industry review as a point of reference for measurement and not as a determinative factor. Although the Company seeks to offer a level of total compensation to named executive officers that is competitive with the compensation paid by companies in the Compensation Peer Group, the Company does not target or benchmark a particular percentile with respect to our executives' total pay packages or any individual components of pay. Rather, the compensation levels and performance of the companies in the Compensation Peer Group constitute one of the many factors considered by the Compensation Committee and described in this Compensation Discussion and Analysis. The Compensation Peer Group, which the Compensation Committee annually reviews and updates when appropriate, is designed to reflect the Company's business mix and to consist of companies against which the Compensation Committee believes AFG competes for talent and for shareholder investment and in the marketplace for business.

Below is the Compensation Peer Group reviewed, approved and utilized by the Compensation Committee for 2021.

- Alleghany Corporation
- Arch Capital Group Ltd.
- Assurant Inc.
- Chubb Limited
- Cincinnati Financial Corporation
- CNA Financial Corp.

- The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc.
- Lincoln National Corporation
- Markel Corporation
- RLI Corp.
- W. R. Berkley Corporation

Based upon all these factors, the Compensation Committee believes it is in AFG shareholders' best long-term interest for the Compensation Committee to ensure that the overall level of compensation is competitive with companies in the Compensation Peer Group. The Compensation Committee continues to believe that the quality, skills and dedication of executive leaders are critical factors that drive the long-term value of the Company. Therefore, the Compensation Committee and the Co-CEOs continue to try to maintain an executive compensation program that will attract, motivate, retain and reward the highest level of executive leadership possible and align the interests of AFG's executives with those of AFG's shareholders.

The Compensation Committee's decisions concerning the specific 2021 compensation elements for the Co-CEOs were made within this framework. The Compensation Committee also considered each Co-CEO's performance and prior-year salary, incentive awards and other compensation. In all cases, specific decisions involving 2021 compensation were ultimately based upon the Compensation Committee's judgment about the Co-CEOs' performance, potential future contributions and about whether each particular payment or award would provide an appropriate incentive and reward for performance that sustains and enhances long-term shareholder value without subjecting the Company to inappropriate or unreasonable risk.

Based on its review, the Compensation Committee found the named executive officers' total compensation to be reasonable and consistent with the objectives of the Company's compensation programs and generally aligned performance versus peers.

Compensation Risk Analysis

The Compensation Committee has reviewed the risk profile of the components of AFG's executive compensation programs, including the performance objectives and target and maximum levels used in connection with incentive awards. The Company analyzes and structures its overall compensation program to discourage excessive risk-taking through a balanced use of compensation vehicles and metrics with an overall goal of delivering sustained long-term shareholder value while aligning executives' interests with those of shareholders. Further, our program makes a substantial portion of each named executive officer's compensation contingent on delivering performance results that benefit our shareholders. The Compensation Committee believes that AFG's executive compensation programs incentivize the appropriate level of risk-taking behavior by its named executive officers needed to grow the business, while encouraging prudent decision-making that focuses on both short-term and long-term results.

Change in Control

No named executive officer is a party to an employment or other agreement providing for severance or change in control payments.

2022 Proxy Statement | Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Awards under the Senior Executive Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan and the Company's shareholder-approved equity incentive plans in effect through 2015 contain provisions for an acceleration of vesting, applicable to all participants, of awards upon a change in control.

Awards under the Company's shareholder-approved equity incentive plan currently in effect do not provide for automatic acceleration of awards for any participant, including the named executive officers. These awards include a "double trigger," which means that, if the awards are assumed by the surviving entity in the change of control, vesting of the awards will not accelerate unless the participant also has a qualifying termination of employment (by the Company without cause or by the participant for good reason). In contrast, if the surviving entity does not assume the equity awards upon the change in control, unvested awards will become vested upon the occurrence of the change in control.

Tally Sheets

The Compensation Committee reviews at least annually a comprehensive tally sheet compiled internally to review all elements of the named executive officers' compensation. The tally sheet includes all of the information that is reflected in the Summary Compensation Table as well as amounts and descriptions of perquisites not required to be specifically identified by SEC regulations, generally because the amount of such items is not deemed material under applicable SEC regulations. The review by the Compensation Committee analyzes how changes in any element of compensation would impact other elements. Such analysis has become an important component in the Compensation Committee's review of named executive officer compensation as various components, including perquisites, are deemed by the Compensation Committee to be important elements of an executive's overall compensation. This also allows the Compensation Committee to make compensation decisions and evaluate management recommendations based upon a complete analysis of a named executive's total compensation.

With regard to perquisites paid to the Co-CEOs, the Compensation Committee noted the annual limitations described under "Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits" on page <u>34</u>.

Equity Incentive Compensation

As part of its analysis and approval of long-term equity incentive compensation available to the named executive officers, the Compensation Committee reviewed information relative to equity wealth accumulation of the named executive officers based on previous awards. The purpose of this analysis was to determine whether prior and proposed awards are likely to be effective for retention and as performance incentives to the named executive officers. The Compensation Committee was mindful of the substantial ownership of the Company's common shares by executive officers, particularly the Co-CEOs, and the effect of such ownership in aligning their interests with those of all of the Company's shareholders.

Internal Pay Equity

The Compensation Committee does not apply fixed ratios when conducting an analysis of the relative difference between the Co-CEOs' compensation and the compensation of the Company's other senior executives. However, the Compensation Committee believes that the Company's internal pay equity structure is appropriate based upon the contributions to the success of the Company and as a means of motivation to other executives and employees.

Share Ownership Requirements

The named executive officers and other senior executives of the Company and its subsidiaries are subject to the Company's share ownership requirements. Pursuant to the requirements, each Co-CEO must own five times his base salary in Company common shares while other executives must own one times his or her base salary in Company common shares. The Company has also established share ownership guidelines for its non-employee directors which are discussed below under, "Executive Compensation—Director Compensation and Stock Ownership Guidelines" on page <u>40</u>.

Hedging and Pledging Policy

The Company prohibits transactions involving hedging of Company shares by directors and executive officers. The Company's pledging policy discourages any pledging of the Company's common shares, including holding common shares in a margin account. In addition, directors and the Company's executive officers are required to obtain pre-approval from the Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee before pledging shares of common shares. Such approval will be granted only if the individual can clearly demonstrate the financial capacity to repay the loan without resorting to the pledged securities

2022 Proxy Statement | Compensation Discussion and Analysis

and/or after a determination that the number of shares that the individual proposes to pledge is unlikely to affect the market for the common shares when viewed in relation to the market value or trading volume. No named executive officer or director pledged any Company shares at any time over the past three years.

Outside Consultants

The Compensation Committee has the authority to retain and from time to time has retained outside consultants to assist in evaluating the Company's executive compensation programs and practices. In 2021, the Compensation Committee engaged Pay Governance as set forth above.

Tax Deductibility of Pay

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Job Act of 2017 (the "TCJA") was signed into law. The TCJA includes significant changes to the rules under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code for deducting certain executive compensation. In general, for years prior to 2018, Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code disallowed a tax deduction to publicly held companies for compensation paid in any year to certain executive officers in excess of \$1 million per officer that did not qualify as "performance-based compensation."

Under the TCJA, the exemption from Section 162(m)'s deduction limit for performance-based compensation has been repealed. The new rules generally apply to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, but do not apply to remuneration paid in future years pursuant to a written binding contract in effect on November 2, 2017 that is not modified in any material respect after that date.

In December 2020 the Internal Revenue Service issued final regulations with regard to the new Section 162(m) rules provided by the TCJA. Despite the Compensation Committee's efforts in prior years to structure certain incentive programs as "performance-based compensation" intended to be exempt from Section 162(m)'s deduction limits, because of uncertainties as to the interpretation and application of the new rules, no assurance can be given that compensation intended to satisfy the requirements for exemption from Section 162(m) in fact will do so.

Section 409A

Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code requires that "nonqualified deferred compensation" be deferred and paid under plans or arrangements that satisfy the requirements of the law with respect to the timing of deferral elections, timing of payments and certain other matters. In general, it is AFG's intention to design and administer its compensation and benefits plans and arrangements for all of its employees so that they are either exempt from, or satisfy the requirements of, Section 409A.

Recovery of Prior Awards

AFG does not have a policy with respect to adjustment or recovery of awards or payments if relevant company performance measures upon which previous awards were based are restated or otherwise adjusted in a manner that would reduce the size of such award or payment. Under those circumstances, we expect that the Compensation Committee and the Board would evaluate whether compensation adjustments were appropriate based upon the facts and circumstances surrounding the applicable restatement or adjustment. Nevertheless, the Company is subject to the provisions of Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, with its recoupment requirements. In addition, each of the Senior Executive LTIC and the Senior Executive Annual Bonus Plan contain specific provisions regarding recovery of awards in the event of restatement of materially inaccurate financial results.

Retirement and Other Related Benefits

The Company provides retirement benefits to named executive officers through a combination of qualified (under the Internal Revenue Code) and nonqualified plans. AFG provides retirement benefits to all qualified employees through the 401(k) Retirement and Savings Plan ("RASP"), a defined contribution plan. AFG matches 100% on the first 3% of employee contributions and an additional 50% on the next 3% of employee contributions and makes discretionary contributions to the retirement fund portion of the plan. The amount of such contributions and matching payments are based on a percentage of the employee's salary up to certain thresholds. AFG also makes available to certain employees benefits in its Nonqualified Auxiliary RASP ("Auxiliary RASP"). The purpose of the Auxiliary RASP is to enable employees whose contributions in the retirement contribution portion of the RASP are limited by IRS regulations to have an additional benefit to the RASP.

2021 Compensation Components

The Compensation Committee continues to monitor and evaluate on an ongoing basis the mix of direct cash and equity compensation awarded to the named executive officers, and the extent to which such compensation aligns the interests of the named executive officers with those of AFG's shareholders. In connection with this practice, the Compensation Committee annually considers and discusses the structure of the Company's executive compensation program and the relative weighting of various compensation elements. For 2021, the principal components of compensation for named executive officers were:

- base salary and annual performance-based cash awards;
- long-term incentive compensation;
- retirement and deferred compensation benefits; and
- perquisites and other personal benefits.

Each of these components plays a different strategic role in the Company's compensation program:

Compensation Element	Strategic Role in Compensation	
Base salary is determined based on position, scope of responsibilities, experience, tenure,	• Provides a fixed level of compensation for services rendered during the year.	
qualifications and competitive data.	• Attracts and retains executive talent.	
Annual cash incentive awards are variable awards payable in large part based on	 Provides focus on annual performance goals linked to Company success and shareholder value. 	
Company performance and results established by the Compensation Committee.	• Motivates and rewards named executive officers to achieve strong annual business results that will contribute to the Company's long-term success without creating an incentive to take excessive risk.	
Long-term stock-based incentive awards through annual restricted share grants.	• Ensures that the named executive officers have a significant continuing interest in the long-term financial success of the Company.	
	• Aligns the interests of the named executive officers with Company shareholders.	
	• Encourages decisions and rewards performance that contributes to the long-term Company success.	
	• Encourages executive retention.	
	• Discourages excessive risk taking.	
Long-term cash awards under the Senior Executive Long Term Incentive	• Encourages focus on growth in book value and return on equity growth, primary drivers of long-term shareholder value.	
Compensation Plan.	• Encourages retention through three-year performance periods.	
	• Long-term focus discourages excessive risk taking.	
Retirement benefits which provide competitive retirement benefits that are	• Provides qualified retirement benefits through Company matching of a percentage of contributions in a defined contribution plan.	
generally comparable to those provided to all employees.	• Provides non-qualified contributions where tax law limits amounts.	
	• Attracts executive talent.	
	• Provides the opportunity to accrue a reasonable retirement benefit.	
Deferred compensation elections, which are voluntary and permit deferral of base salary	• Permits named executive officers to defer receipt of all or any part of their base salary and/or annual cash incentive awards.	
or cash incentive awards into our common shares and/or cash at an interest rate	• Provides a retention feature through reasonable return potential.	
determined annually.	• Provides an attractive tax planning opportunity designed to attract and retain executives.	
Perquisites including health care; life, disability, auto and home insurance; aircraft	• Provides competitive compensation elements designed to attract and retain executive talent.	
usage; entertainment; and administrative services.	• Viewed as a component of total compensation where diminishing or eliminating any perquisites would require a corresponding increase in other compensation components.	
	• Personal use of Company aircraft is encouraged for the Co-CEOs for security and personal safety and to enhance productivity.	

2021 Compensation Determinations and Results

Overview of 2021 Compensation Determinations and Results

AFG annually holds an advisory vote on the compensation of its named executive officers, commonly referred to as a Sayon-Pay vote. Our shareholders approved the compensation of our named executive officers, with over 94% of votes cast in 2021 in favor of our Say-on-Pay resolution. The Compensation Committee believes that the result of the advisory vote is valuable in assessing its compensation decisions and considers each year's vote in its annual review and design of the Company's executive compensation programs.

The executive compensation program for 2021 was designed similarly to the program in recent years. In January 2021, the Company announced, and in May 2021, the Company completed the sale of its annuity business to Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company for approximately \$3.5 billion after-tax proceeds. Because the sale agreement had been signed prior to making 2021 compensation determinations, the Compensation Committee eliminated the annuity earnings component of the annual bonus plan which applied to the Co-CEOs and Mr. Berding.

In its review of 2021 Company performance in the context of overall and incentive compensation paid to the named executive officers, the Compensation Committee acknowledged that the negotiation, execution and closing of the largest transaction in Company history while maintaining day-to-day operations during the COVID-19 pandemic required significant efforts by management in addition to day-to-day operations.

The Committee also recognized the Company's outstanding performance for 2021 in light of the continued challenges and uncertainty due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company's Operating EPS and Specialty P&C Earnings significantly outperformed the target and maximum performance metrics established by the Committee for 2021. The Company's Operating EPS of \$11.58 exceeded the results necessary to earn the target and maximum bonus amounts for all named executive officers by approximately 72% and 56%, respectively, and the Company's \$1,389.6 million in Specialty P&C Earnings exceeded the results necessary to earn the target and maximum bonus amounts for the Co-CEOs and Mr. Berding by approximately 48% and 37%, respectively.

The Committee recognized that the Company's strong results together with the proceeds from the sale of the annuity business led to significant returns to shareholders as the Company paid \$28.06 per share in dividends in 2021 which included \$26.00 of special dividends. The Company also increased its annual dividend by 12% in 2021. The Company's annualized total shareholder return (stock appreciation plus dividends) for the one, two and three years ended 2021 of 94.8%, 27.7% and 27.5%, respectively, exceeded those of all Compensation Peer Group companies for all periods. The average annualized total shareholder return for the Compensation Peer Group companies for the one, two and three years ended 2021 were 22.4%, 6.5% and 14.3%, respectively.

When reviewing total 2021 compensation paid to the named executive officers, the Compensation Committee determined that the Company's strong Operating EPS and Specialty P&C Earnings and return on equity results and, importantly, the total shareholder return during the year, merited the highest potential incentive compensation to be paid to its named executive officers in 2021. The Compensation Committee credited the named executive officers for their leadership and believed that total 2021 compensation, principally incentive compensation earned based on Company results, was appropriate and consistent with the Company's pay-for-performance philosophy.

2021 Say-on-Pay Vote

AFG annually holds an advisory vote on the compensation of its named executive officers, commonly referred to as a Sayon-Pay vote. Our shareholders approved the compensation of our named executive officers, with approximately over 94% of votes cast in 2021 in favor of our Say-on-Pay resolution.

The Compensation Committee believes that the result of the advisory vote is valuable in assessing its compensation decisions and considers each year's vote in its annual review of the Company's executive compensation programs. In considering 2021 compensation, the Compensation Committee, in addition to the advice of an independent compensation consultant described below, concluded that the 2020 performance of our named executive officers was excellent and that the Co-CEOs and other named executive officers were rewarded, largely in the form of awards based on Company performance, consistent with the Company's pay for performance philosophy.

Compensation Committee Discussions with Co-CEOs

Our Co-CEOs determine the compensation for the named executive officers other than themselves. The Compensation Committee annually reviews the components of compensation for the named executive officers other than the Co-CEOs, the levels of compensation determined by the Co-CEOs and the performance of the other named executive officers with the Co-CEOs. The Compensation Committee makes recommendations to the Board and the Co-CEOs with respect to general non-Co-CEO compensation, incentive-compensation plans and equity-based plans.

Our Co-CEOs discuss with the Compensation Committee their evaluation of the Company's performance, their performance, their performance, their current and future compensation levels, and the reported compensation of named executive officers at the Compensation Peer Group companies before the Compensation Committee determines annual and long-term incentive compensation for the Co-CEOs. Specifically, the Co-CEOs recommend consideration of AFG's business plan in connection with annual compensation objectives and targets. The Compensation Committee considers this input in connection with its review and approval of corporate goals and objectives relevant to Co-CEO compensation, deliberation of Co-CEO performance in light of those goals and objectives, and determination of Co-CEO compensation levels based on this evaluation.

The Co-CEOs believe that Mr. Berding plays a collaborative role with the Co-CEOs in the achievement of AFG's business plan and budgeted targets. In recognition of this role, the compensation components for Mr. Berding are identical to those of the Co-CEOs.

Base Salary

The Company pays salaries designed to attract and retain superior leaders. After reviewing compiled data and materials as discussed above, the Compensation Committee determines annual base salaries for the Co-CEOs that are appropriate, in its subjective judgment, based on each Co-CEO's responsibilities and performance and input from the Co-CEOs themselves. The Co-CEOs set salaries for the other named executive officers, which are reviewed by the Compensation Committee. The Co-CEOs believe that such salaries are appropriate in light of the levels of responsibility of such officers and their individual contributions to the Company's success. Salary totals for 2021 reflect an additional pay period due to the timing of the biweekly payroll calendar.

Annual Bonus Plan

Under the Senior Executive Annual Bonus Plan, participants could earn annual performance-based cash awards based on current year performance of AFG. The Company believes that the overall performance of AFG is substantially related to the performance of its executives. If earned, the Company pays cash awards in the first quarter for the prior year's performance.

Awards to the Co-CEOs and Mr. Berding under the Senior Executive Annual Bonus Plan for 2021 performance were based on Company performance metrics as measured by Operating EPS and Specialty Property and Casualty Earnings (Specialty P&C Earnings). The Compensation Committee determined that, following the sale of the Company's annuity operations in 2021, Operating EPS and Specialty P&C Earnings are the primary drivers of shareholder value. The Operating EPS and Specialty P&C Earnings component target amounts for the Co-CEOs represented 60% and 40%, respectively, of the total target award.

One-half of the annual award for Ms. Gillis, Mr. Hertzman and Mr. Peraino was based on Operating EPS with the remaining one-half subjectively determined.

The Compensation Committee delineated levels of achievement under each Company performance component. For results below a defined threshold, no award would be earned for the relevant component. For Operating EPS, levels were established for target award and maximum award. For Specialty P&C Earnings, thresholds were established for a minimum award, target award and maximum award. The Compensation Committee determined that exceeding the highest threshold under any component would reflect significant outperformance by the Company or the applicable operating segment and merited payment of the maximum award amounts.

The Compensation Committee established the performance metrics ranges for 2021 after reviewing the Company's 2021 business plan prepared by management, approved by the Co-CEOs and reviewed with the Board of Directors. Results for each component are determined from the Company's results reported consistent with past practice. The Senior Executive Annual Bonus Plan includes provisions for adjustments to performance thresholds in the event of a modification of the methodology of Company reporting for any measure. Any modification would result in an adjustment, as determined by the Compensation Committee, in a manner that provides for an identical award for the affected component based on identical adjusted results.

Annual Bonus Plan-2021 Targets

The target award for each component of the Annual Bonus Plan and the overall target and maximum awards for each participant are set forth in the table below. For each Company performance component, participants would receive no award for results below a threshold. Where results for any metric fell within performance ranges, the award earned for the component was to be determined by straight-line interpolation.

Name	Operating EPS Target (\$)	Specialty P&C Earnings Target (\$)	Discretionary Target (\$)	Total Target (\$)	Maximum (\$)
Carl H. Lindner III	1,380,000	920,000		2,300,000	3,473,000
S. Craig Lindner	1,380,000	920,000		2,300,000	3,473,000
John B. Berding	1,020,000	680,000		1,700,000	2,312,000
Michelle A. Gillis	150,000	_	150,000	300,000	375,000
Brian S. Hertzman	160,000	—	160,000	320,000	400,000
Vito C. Peraino	330,000	_	330,000	660,000	825,000

Annual Bonus Plan - 2021 Components

The Company's **Operating EPS calculation** is its diluted core earnings per share as reported to shareholders in quarterly earnings releases and excludes certain items that may not be indicative of its ongoing core operations such as the impact of discontinued operations, net realized gains and losses and special items that are not necessarily indicative of operating trends.

The Compensation Committee discussed that the 2021 Operating EPS target and maximum would not be directly comparable to those from 2020 because 2020 Operating EPS included the results of the Company's annuity operations which were sold in 2021 and constituted discontinued operations effective January 1, 2021. Nonetheless, the Compensation Committee determined that achieving the target and maximum Operating EPS would require substantial efforts on behalf of the entire organization. The Compensation Committee considered factors which might impact ongoing earnings, including, but not limited to, competition, market influences, governmental regulation and the Board of Directors' desire to devote resources to other internal corporate objectives, such as acquisitions or start-ups.

The Company's **P&C Earnings** are its core operating earnings before income taxes from the Specialty Property and Casualty Insurance operations as reported in the Company's earnings releases. P&C Earnings excludes certain items that may not be indicative of the Company's ongoing core operations such as realized gains and losses and special charges resulting from the recurring periodic review of the Company's asbestos and environmental exposures. In approving Specialty P&C Earnings targets, the Compensation Committee considered the effects of COVID-19 on 2020 results which were not expected to recur in 2021. The target performance for the Specialty P&C Earnings component for 2021 represented approximately a 17% and 21% increase, respectively, over the 2020 target and 2020 actual results. To achieve the maximum bonus under the Specialty P&C Earnings component for 2021 actual results.

0	perating EPS	Pa	&C Earnings
	Award as Percentage of Target ⁽¹⁾	Earnings (in millions)	Award as Percentage of Target ⁽¹⁾
< \$6.08	0%	< \$866.6	0%
\$6.75	100%	\$866.6	85%
\$7.43 or more	Maximum ⁽²⁾	\$942.0	100%
		\$1,017.4 or more	115%

(1) Where results for any metric fell within performance ranges, the award for the component was to be determined by straight-line interpolation rounded up to the nearest dollar.

(2) 175% for the Co-CEOs, 150% for Mr. Berding and 125% for Ms. Gillis, Mr. Peraino and Mr. Hertzman.

For Ms. Gillis, Mr. Hertzman and Mr. Peraino, 50% of the annual cash target award was determined under the Discretionary component by the Co-CEOs based on the Co-CEOs' subjective rating of the named executive officers relative to overall performance for 2021. The determination for Ms. Gillis, Mr. Hertzman and Mr. Peraino includes a consideration of all factors

deemed relevant, including, but not limited to: operational, qualitative measurements relating to the development and implementation of strategic initiatives and annual objectives; responses to unexpected developments; the development of management personnel; and the impact of any extraordinary transactions involving or affecting the Company and its subsidiaries.

Annual Bonus Plan - 2021 Component Results and Awards

The percentage achievement and award paid to each participant under each component of the Annual Bonus Plan is set forth below.

	Reported Operating EPS of \$11.59		Reported P&C Earnings of \$1,390 Million		Discretionary Award	
	Award as Percentage of Target (%)	Award (\$)	Award as Percentage of Target (%)	Award (\$)	Award as Percentage of Target (%)	Award (\$)
Carl H. Lindner III	175	2,415,000	115	1,058,000	_	_
S. Craig Lindner	175	2,415,000	115	1,058,000	—	_
John B. Berding	150	1,530,000	115	782,000	_	_
Michelle A. Gillis	125	187,500	—	_	125	187,500
Brian S. Hertzman	125	200,000	—		125	200,000
Vito C. Peraino	125	412,500	_		125	412,500

The total award, also expressed as a percentage of the target and maximum award, paid to each participant for 2021 under the Annual Bonus Plan was:

		Total Award as a Percentage of	
Name	Total 2021 Award (\$)	Target (%)	Maximum (%)
Carl H. Lindner III	3,473,000	151	100
S. Craig Lindner	3,473,000	151	100
John B. Berding	2,312,000	136	100
Michelle A. Gillis	375,000	125	100
Brian H. Hertzman	400,000	125	100
Vito C. Peraino	825,000	125	100

Senior Executive Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan

The Senior Executive Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (the "Senior Executive LTIC") rewards long-term Company performance through cash awards payable upon the achievement of three-year performance goals determined annually by the Compensation Committee.

Awards under the Senior Executive LTIC utilize two evenly weighted performance criteria: book value per share growth versus the book value per share growth of the group of companies (the "plan companies") and average annual return on equity growth.

The **book value per share** calculations, for the Company and each plan company, are adjusted to negate the effects of accounting changes, accumulated other comprehensive income and the impact of dividends and other capital distributions made on common shares. The awards provide for such adjustments so that accounting changes do not artificially affect book value per share and so that other comprehensive income and the impact of distributions do not influence Company decisions like, for example, the timing and amount of dividends paid in a manner not consistent with a goal of continuing to increase shareholder value.

Annual return on equity growth is defined as the percentage equal to the Company's core operating earnings divided by the Company's shareholders' equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income), and the applicable percentage in determining award amounts, if any, is the average return on equity for each of the three years in the performance period.

Awards granted under the Senior Executive LTIC to the Co-CEOs and Mr. Berding are provided in the table below. Each of the performance components are equally weighted with one-half of the target amounts and maximum amounts set forth below allocated to each of book value per share growth versus plan companies and average annual return on equity growth:

		Three-Year Performance	Potential	Payments
Name	Grant Year	Period Ending	Target (\$)	Maximum (\$)
Carl H. Lindner III	2019	12/31/2021	2,500,000	5,000,000
	2020	12/31/2022	2,500,000	5,000,000
	2021	12/31/2023	2,500,000	5,000,000
S. Craig Lindner	2019	12/31/2021	2,500,000	5,000,000
	2020	12/31/2022	2,500,000	5,000,000
	2021	12/31/2023	2,500,000	5,000,000
John B. Berding	2019	12/31/2021	800,000	1,600,000
	2020	12/31/2022	800,000	1,600,000
	2021	12/31/2023	1,250,000	2,500,000

The following table shows the performance targets established to earn the minimum and maximum awards under the Senior Executive LTIC for the performance periods ending 2021, 2022 and 2023.

Three-Year Performance	Growth in 1 Per Sl	Book Value nare ⁽¹⁾	Return or	Equity ⁽²⁾
Period Ending	Minimum	Maximum	Minimum	Maximum
12/31/2021	(3)	(4)	10.0%	14.0%
12/31/2022	(3)	(4)	10.0%	14.0%
12/31/2023	(3)	(4)	10.0%	14.5%

(1) Based on book value per share growth as compared to the plan companies. No award will be paid for results below the minimum.

(2) For a return on equity greater than the minimum but less than the maximum, the award amount is calculated by applying straight-line interpolation rounded to the nearest whole dollar amount. The target amount is payable at the midpoint between the minimum and maximum. No award will be paid for results below the minimum.

(3) Book value per share growth must exceed that of the lower quartile of that of the plan companies. Target amounts payable for book value per share growth in the top 37.5% of plan companies.

(4) Book value per share growth must exceed that of all plan companies.

Under the **book value per share component**, if the Company's growth in book value per share over the three-year performance placed it in the fourth (lowest) quartile of the plan companies, no award for the book value per share growth metric would be payable to any participant. If the Company's growth in book value per share exceeded all plan companies, each participant would receive the maximum amount payable for the metric (200% of the target amount). If the Company's growth in book value per share exceeded the fourth (lowest) quartile of the plan companies but did not exceed that of all plan companies, each participant would be entitled to an award (expressed as a percentage of target) calculated by applying straight-line interpolation for growth in book value per share exceeding all plan companies). Plan companies acquired during the three-year performance period are excluded when calculating awards.

In order for a participant to receive the target amount, the Company's growth in book value per share must be in the top 37.5% of the plan companies. The plan companies for the three-year period ended December 31, 2021 were:

- 1. Alleghany Corp.
- 2. American Equity Investment Life Holding Co.
- 3. American National Insurance Co.
- 4. Arch Capital Group Ltd.
- 5. Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd.
- 6. Assurant, Inc.
- 7. Brighthouse Financial, Inc.
- 8. Chubb Limited
- 9. Cincinnati Financial Corp.
- 10. CNA Financial Corporation
- 11. CNO Financial Group, Inc.
- 12. The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.

- 13. The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc.
- 14. Horace Mann Educators Corp.
- 15. Lincoln National Corp.
- 16. Markel Corporation
- 17. MetLife, Inc.
- 18. National Western Life Group, Inc.
- 19. Old Republic International Corporation
- 20. RLI Corp.
- 21. Travelers Companies, Inc.
- 22. Voya Financial, Inc.
- 23. W.R. Berkley Corporation

The Company's growth in book value per share for the period from January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2021 placed it third in comparison to the plan companies (entitling each participant to 88.4% of the maximum award for this component). Each Co-CEO received an award of \$2,210,145 and Mr. Berding received an award for this component of \$707,246 for the performance period.

Return on equity awards are based on average annual return on equity for the performance period. For the 2019-2021 performance period, if the return on equity percentage equaled or exceeded 14%, the participant would receive the maximum award amount attributed to this metric. If the return on equity percentage equals or is less than 10%, the participant would receive no award amount attributed to this metric. For a return on equity greater than 10% but less than 14%, the award amount will be calculated by applying straight-line interpolation rounded to the nearest whole dollar amount. Each participant's target award of 50% of the maximum award for the return on equity component would be earned if the Company's return on equity equaled 12% for the three-year period.

The Company's annual average return on equity for 2019-2021 was 15.0%. Each participant was entitled to the maximum award for this component. Each Co-CEO received an award of \$2,500,000, and Mr. Berding received an award for this component of \$800,000.

After combining the two components, each of the Co-CEOs received an award of \$4,710,145 and Mr. Berding received an award of \$1,507,246. These amounts represented 188.4% of the target award and 94.2% of the maximum award.

Long-Term Equity Incentive Compensation—Broad-Based Equity Award

The Compensation Committee believes long-term equity incentive compensation encourages management to focus on longterm Company performance and provides an opportunity for executive officers and certain designated key employees to increase their stake in the Company through equity awards that vest over time. The Compensation Committee believes that equity awards represent an important part of AFG's performance-based compensation system and that equity awards align AFG's senior executives' interests with those of its shareholders.

Equity awards are generally granted at a regularly scheduled Compensation Committee meeting in February after the investment market has had the opportunity to assess AFG's announcement of results of the recently ended fiscal year and current year earnings guidance.

The Compensation Committee has not awarded stock options since 2015. Since 2016, the annual grants by the Compensation Committee have consisted of restricted shares awarded to executive officers and certain designated key employees. All restricted shares cliff-vest after four years and contain double-trigger vesting which limits acceleration of awards to situations where change in control is accompanied by a qualified termination of employment. All outstanding equity awards are subject to the double-trigger.

In determining the value of annual grants to key employees, the Compensation Committee takes into consideration the dilutive effect to shareholders as well as the expense to AFG as stock-based awards vest. The Compensation Committee believes that several features present in stock-based awards give recipients substantial incentive to maximize AFG's long-term success. Specifically, the Compensation Committee believes that, because all awards vest over time, with restricted stock awards "cliff" vesting in four years, these awards promote executive retention due to the potential for forfeiture of awards that have not fully vested upon departure from AFG.

Equity award levels for participants are determined based on market and compensation peer company data, expense to AFG, the relative benefits to participants of such expense, the overall compensation level of participants and award amounts from previous years. Equity grants vary among participants based on their positions within the Company, and AFG believes that the consideration of these factors results in reasonable grant levels to its named executive officers and other employees. Restricted shares granted in 2021 to the named executive officers are set forth in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table on page <u>37</u> of this proxy statement.

Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

Perquisites, such as insurance coverage, the personal use of corporate aircraft, certain entertainment expenses and administrative staff attending to occasional personal matters are made available to AFG's executive officers. The Compensation Committee views the perquisites provided to the named executive officers together with all other compensation elements as a component of total compensation and believes that diminishing or eliminating any perquisites would require a corresponding increase in other compensation components. Therefore, the Compensation Committee believes these perquisites, as a component of total executive compensation, to be reasonable and consistent with the overall goal of offering competitive compensation programs.

The benefits and the estimated costs to the Company of such benefits are included in the All Other Compensation table below on page 36.

During 2021, as in prior years, the Company operated corporate aircraft used for the business travel of management and staff of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board has encouraged the Co-CEOs to use corporate aircraft for all travel whenever practicable for productivity, security and confidentiality reasons, and the policy proved important for the health and safety of the Co-CEO's considering COVID-19. Notwithstanding, the Compensation Committee and the Co-CEOs jointly acknowledge that personal aircraft use is a personal benefit. Each Co-CEO is provided a fixed number of hours per year for personal use (140 flight hours for 2021) to replace additional cash compensation that would have been paid. On certain occasions, an executive's spouse, other family members or guests may fly on the corporate aircraft.

The Compensation Committee recognized the sharp increase in the use of corporate aircraft by the Co-CEOs during 2021 over 2020 which resulted primarily from flight hours that went unused in 2020 due to COVID-19 travel restrictions which the Co-CEOs were permitted to carryover to 2021. The Compensation Committee determined that the circumstances resulting in such large carryover of flight hours was not likely to recur and made no change to the benefit for 2022.

For taxable benefits, the dollar amounts are included as taxable income to the named executive officers, and the Company does not provide tax gross-up payments for any perquisites. See footnote (2) to the "All Other Compensation" table below on page <u>36</u> for a discussion of the tax treatment of aircraft benefits.

The Compensation Committee similarly limits the insurance benefit to \$500,000 per year and auto expenses, meals and entertainment, travel services and personal administrative services to \$120,000 per year. If exceeded, reimbursement is made based on the cost to the Company of providing the benefits. Amounts reimbursed each year are detailed in footnotes to the "All Other Compensation" table below on page <u>36</u>.

The Compensation Committee views perquisites as an element of total compensation and, as such, would consider the elimination or diminution of any perquisite as a decrease in total compensation. The Compensation Committee, then, would seek to replace any such elimination or diminution with fixed compensation which, if designed to replace the value of the perquisite, may require salary increases which, on a pre-tax basis, would allow the named executive officers to replace the perquisite.

The Company also maintains a Deferred Compensation Plan pursuant to which certain employees of AFG and its subsidiaries (currently those paid \$110,000 or more annually) may defer up to 80% of their annual salary and/or bonus. For 2021, participants could elect to have the value of deferrals earn a fixed rate of interest, set annually by the Board of Directors (1.25% in 2021); fluctuate based on the market value of Company common shares, as adjusted to reflect stock splits, distributions, dividends; or earn interest as determined by one or more publicly traded mutual funds. A deferral term of either a fixed number of years or upon termination of employment must be elected at the time of deferral. Under the plan, no federal or state income taxes are paid on deferred compensation. Rather, such taxes will be due upon receipt at the end of the deferral period.

2022 Proxy Statement | Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Executive Compensation

Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the aggregate compensation paid to or earned by the named executive officers for each of the last three years. Such compensation includes amounts paid by AFG and its subsidiaries and certain affiliates for the years indicated. Amounts shown relate to the year indicated, regardless of when paid. AFG has no employment agreements with the named executive officers.

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Stock Awards (\$) ⁽²⁾	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation (\$) ⁽³⁾	All Other Compensation (\$) ⁽⁴⁾	Total (\$)
Carl H. Lindner III	2021	1,250,000	1,500,100	8,183,145	1,516,337	12,449,582
Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President (Co-Principal	2020	1,298,077	1,500,125	5,711,747	1,121,221	9,631,170
Executive Officer)	2019	1,250,000	1,500,045	6,597,992	1,116,550	10,464,587
S. Craig Lindner	2021	1,250,000	1,500,100	8,183,145	1,408,494	12,341,739
Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-President (Co-Principal	2020	1,298,077	1,500,125	5,711,747	1,086,291	9,596,241
Executive Officer)	2019	1,250,000	1,500,045	6,597,992	1,109,383	10,457,420
John B. Berding	2021	1,020,000	950,093	3,819,246	181,372	5,970,711
President of American Money Management	2020	1,021,154	950,076	2,263,861	82,970	4,318,061
6	2019	960,000	950,062	2,874,267	99,597	4,883,926
Michelle A. Gillis	2021	426,539	320,069	375,000	69,297	1,190,905
Senior Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer and	2020	425,077	320,063	232,933	51,281	1,029,354
Chief Administrative Officer	2019	390,770	320,162	310,174	61,482	1,082,589
Brian S. Hertzman	2021	436,153	285,061	400,000	85,229	1,206,443
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2020	350,248	160,031	195,833	53,315	759,428
Vito C. Peraino	2021	666,154	600,018	825,000	99,155	2,190,327
Senior Vice President and General Counsel	2020	670,385	600,092	523,077	65,020	1,858,574
	2019	625,385	600,117	699,302	79,044	2,003,849

(1) Amounts shown are not reduced to reflect the named executive officers' elections, if any, to defer receipt of salary into the Deferred Compensation Plan. Salary totals for 2020 reflect an additional pay period due to the timing of the bi-weekly payroll calendar.

(2) Amount shown for 2021 represents the dollar amount which will be expensed for financial statement reporting purposes over the four-year cliff vesting period of discretionary restricted stock awards made by the Compensation Committee for compensation expense incurred by the Company. Amounts were determined in accordance with FASB ASC 718 (Compensation – Stock Compensation), rather than as an amount paid to or realized, and as such, dividends paid on restricted stock awards are not reported.

(3) Non-equity incentive plan compensation payments to all named executive officers include those made pursuant to the Annual Senior Executive Bonus Plan, a performance-based annual cash bonus plan. For the Co-CEOs and Mr. Berding, amounts also include payments under the Senior Executive LTIC which are further described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section beginning on page 22 of this proxy statement.

(4) See the All Other Compensation chart below which details the components of these amounts.

Item	C.H. Lindner III	S.C. Lindner	J.B. Berding	M.A. Gillis	B. S. Hertzman	V.C. Peraino
Insurance (Auto/Home Executive Insurance Program) ⁽¹⁾	500,000	500,000	30,242	12,711	32,296	17,560
Aircraft Usage ⁽²⁾	819,128	693,273	74,564	_	_	—
Annual RASP Contribution ⁽³⁾	21,750	21,750	21,750	21,750	21,750	21,750
Annual Auxiliary RASP Contribution ⁽³⁾	35,500	35,500	35,500	18,473	17,099	35,500
Other ⁽⁴⁾	128,803	146,815	19,316	16,363	14,084	24,345
Total	1,516,337	1,408,494	181,372	69,297	85,229	99,155

All Other Compensation (\$)-2021

(1) The insurance benefit is limited to \$500,000 per year. Mr. C.H. Lindner III exceeded the limit by \$159,927 and Mr. S.C. Lindner exceeded the limit by \$237,239, and each reimbursed such amounts to the Company.

(2) The value of the use of corporate aircraft is calculated based on the aggregate incremental cost to the Company, including fuel costs, trip-related maintenance, universal weather-monitoring costs, on-board catering, landing/ramp fees and other miscellaneous variable costs. Fixed costs which do not change based on usage, such as pilot salaries, the amortized costs of the company aircraft, and the cost of maintenance not related to trips, are excluded. Amounts for personal use of company aircraft are included in the table. This incremental cost valuation of aircraft use is different from the standard industry fare level valuation used to impute income to the executives for tax purposes.

(3) For information regarding the RASP and Auxiliary RASP, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Retirement and Other Related Benefits" on page <u>26</u>.

(4) Includes group life insurance; car, parking and related expenses; business club dues; security services; and health savings account company match. Also includes estimated amounts for meals and entertainment, travel services and administrative services. The Compensation Committee limits auto benefits, meals and entertainment, travel services and personal administrative services to \$120,000 per year. Amounts for Mr. C.H. Lindner III and Mr. S. Craig Lindner reflect reimbursements of \$24,354 and \$23,029, respectively, representing the excess over the \$120,000 limit.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

As described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section, the named executive officers do not have employment, severance or change in control agreements with the Company. All outstanding unvested equity awards are subject to a double trigger.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

		Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards			All other Stock Awards: Number of Shares of	Closing Market Price on	Grant Date Fair Value of
Name	Grant Date	Threshold (\$)	Target (\$)	Maximum (\$)	Stock or Units (#) ⁽¹⁾	the Date of Grant (\$/Sh)	Stock and Option Awards (\$)
Carl H. Lindner III	2/23/2021	—	_	_	13,498	111.43	1,504,082
	2/23/2021(2)	0	2,300,000	3,473,000	—	—	_
	2/23/2021(3)	—	2,500,000	5,000,000	—	—	_
S. Craig Lindner	2/23/2021	_	_	_	13,498	111.43	1,504,082
	2/23/2021(2)	0	2,300,000	3,473,000	—	—	—
	2/23/2021(3)	—	2,500,000	5,000,000	—	—	_
John B. Berding	2/23/2021	_		_	8,549	111.43	952,615
	2/23/2021(2)	0	1,700,000	2,312,000	—	—	—
	2/23/2021(3)	—	800,000	1,600,000	—	—	_
Michelle A. Gillis	2/23/2021	_		_	2,880	111.43	320,918
	2/23/2021(2)	0	300,000	375,000	—	—	—
Brian S. Hertzman	2/23/2021		_	_	2,565	111.43	285,818
	2/23/2021(2)	0	320,000	400,000	—	_	—
Vito C. Peraino	2/23/2021	_			5,399	111.43	601,611
	2/23/2021(2)	0	660,000	825,000	—	_	—

(1)

These restricted shares were granted pursuant to the Company's stock incentive plan and cliff-vest four years after the grant date. Holders of restricted shares generally have full voting and dividend rights on all restricted shares during the vesting period. These represent awards under the Annual Bonus Plan. These amounts, to the extent earned for 2021 and paid in 2022, are shown in the Summary Compensation Table in the column titled "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation" because these awards were recognized in 2021 for financial (2)

 (3) These represent awards under the Senior Executive LTIC. Grants in 2021 cover a three-year performance period 2021-2023. One-half of award payment based on the Company's growth in book value per share over the three years compared to plan companies, and one-half of award payment based on meeting or exceeding average annual core return on equity goals over the three-year period. Payments of awards, if any, will be made in early 2021. 2024.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

		Option Awards ⁽¹⁾			Stock	Awards
Name	Grant Date	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable (#)	Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#) ⁽²⁾	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)
Carl H. Lindner III	02/21/2018				13,295	1,825,669
	02/26/2019				15,110	2,074,905
	02/25/2020				14,389	1,975,897
	02/23/2021				13,498	1,853,545
S. Craig Lindner	02/21/2018				13,295	1,825,669
	02/26/2019				15,110	2,074,905
	02/25/2020				14,389	1,975,897
	02/23/2021				13,498	1,853,545
John B. Berding	02/23/2015	28,417	49.15	02/23/2025		
	02/21/2018				8,420	1,156,234
	02/26/2019				9,570	1,314,152
	02/25/2020				9,113	1,251,397
	02/23/2021				8,549	1,173,949
Michelle A. Gillis	02/24/2014	2,376	50.81	02/24/2024		
	02/23/2015	8,417	49.15	02/23/2025		
	02/23/2015	1,758	56.85	02/23/2025		
	02/21/2018				2,840	389,989
	02/26/2019				3,225	442,857
	02/25/2020				3,070	421,572
	02/23/2021				2,880	395,482
Brian S. Hertzman	02/21/2018				1,330	182,636
	02/26/2019				1,565	214,906
	02/25/2020				1,535	210,786
	02/23/2021				2,565	352,226
Vito C. Peraino	02/23/2015	1,758	56.85	02/23/2025		
	02/23/2015	2,417	49.15	02/23/2025		
	02/21/2018				5,320	730,542
	02/26/2019				6,045	830,099
	02/25/2020				5,756	790,414
	02/23/2021				5,399	741,391

(1) Represents employee stock options that became exercisable for 20% of the shares initially granted on the first anniversary of the date of grant, with the additional 20% becoming exercisable on each subsequent anniversary. The Company ceased granting stock options after 2015, and all outstanding stock options are exercisable.

(2) Represents restricted shares which cliff-vest four years following the award grant date.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The table below shows the number of Company common shares acquired during 2021 upon the exercise of options and restricted share awards which vested in 2021.

	Option	Awards	Stock Awards		
	Number of Shares Acquired on Exercise (#)Value Realized on Exercise (\$)(1)		Number of Shares Acquired on Vesting (#)	Value Realized on Vesting (\$) ⁽²⁾	
Carl H. Lindner III	150,000	11,188,015	15,885	1,754,339	
S. Craig Lindner	100,000	6,960,500	15,885	1,754,339	
John B. Berding	62,092	6,183,394	9,530	1,052,493	
Michelle A. Gillis	19,122	1,787,370	3,180	351,199	
Brian S. Hertzman	3,107	248,035	1,590	175,600	
Vito C. Peraino	_	_	6,355	701,846	

The dollar value realized reflects the difference between the closing price of the Company common shares on the date of exercise and the stock option (1)exercise price.

(2) The dollar value realized reflects the market value of the vested shares based on the closing price of the Company common shares on the vesting date or, if not a business day, the next preceding business day.

Nonqualified Defined Contribution and Other Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans

The Company provides retirement benefits to named executive officers through a combination of qualified (under the Internal Revenue Code) and nonqualified plans. AFG makes available to certain employees, including its named executive officers, benefits in its Nonqualified Auxiliary RASP ("Auxiliary RASP"). The purpose of the Auxiliary RASP is to enable employees whose contributions are limited by IRS regulations in the retirement contribution portion of the AFG Retirement and Savings Plan ("RASP") to have an additional benefit to the RASP.

The Company also maintains a Deferred Compensation Plan pursuant to which certain key employees of AFG and its subsidiaries may defer up to 80% of their annual salary and/or bonus. The deferral term of either a fixed number of years or upon termination of employment must be elected at the time of deferral. Under the plan, no federal or state income taxes are paid on deferred compensation. Rather, such taxes will be due upon receipt at the end of the deferral period.

The table below discloses information on the nonqualified deferred compensation of the named executive officers in 2020-2021, including the Auxiliary RASP for the 2021 plan year and the Deferred Compensation Plan.

Name	Executive contributions in last FY(\$)	Registrant contributions in last FY(\$) ⁽¹⁾	Aggregate earnings (loss) in last FY(\$) ⁽²⁾	Aggregate withdrawals / distributions(\$)	Aggregate balances at last FYE(\$)
Carl H. Lindner III	—	35,500	944,778	—	6,520,919
S. Craig Lindner	—	35,500	2,149,306		8,100,052
John B. Berding	—	35,500	675,699		3,289,430
Michelle A. Gillis	—	18,473	24,545		196,408
Brian S. Hertzman	—	17,099	12,835		80,211
Vito C. Peraino	—	35,500	196,835		2,150,205

Represents Company contributions credited to participants' Auxiliary RASP accounts for 2021 which are included in the supplemental All Other (1)Compensation table on page <u>36</u>. Earnings are calculated by reference to actual earnings or losses of mutual funds and securities, including Company common shares, held by the plans.

(2)

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with management. Based on these reviews and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the Company's proxy statement on Schedule 14A.

Members of the Compensation Committee:

Terry S. Jacobs (Chairperson) Mary Beth Martin William W. Verity

Director Compensation and Stock Ownership Guidelines

The Corporate Governance Committee reviews the structure and philosophy of our director compensation program annually during the second quarter. In performing its annual review, the Corporate Governance Committee uses the same group of peer companies used by the Compensation Committee in assessing compensation for named executive officers to evaluate the competitiveness of non-employee director compensation. The tables below show the fees in effect for and the amounts paid to each non-employee director in 2021. The Board has established a share ownership target for nonemployee directors with the objective that all nonemployee directors own, within five years after the later of receiving his or her first annual restricted stock award or the implementation of any increase in the share ownership target, at least five times the annual Board retainer.

2021 Director Compensation Schedule

Compensation Element	(\$)(1)
Board Member Annual Retainer	100,000
Lead Independent Director Retainer	25,000
Audit Committee Chair Annual Retainer	35,000
Compensation Committee Chair Annual Retainer	20,000
Corporate Governance Committee Chair Annual Retainer	20,000
Audit Committee Non-Chair Member Annual Retainer	20,000
Compensation Committee Non-Chair Member Annual Retainer	15,000
Corporate Governance Committee Non-Chair Member Annual Retainer	15,000
Attendance Fee per Day for Offsite Meetings	2,000
Annual Restricted Stock Award	150,000

(1) Non-employee directors who become directors during the year receive a pro rata portion of these annual retainers. The Company reimburses non-employee directors for travel and lodging expenses incurred in connection with meeting attendance. Committee chairs do not receive member retainers in addition to chair retainers.

Beginning in 2014 after almost 40 years as the Company's General Counsel, James E. Evans transitioned from an officer and employee of the Company to an executive consultant to the Company. Under his consulting agreement, Mr. Evans agreed to provide consulting services to the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates. Mr. Evans' duties include being required to make himself available to answer questions and consult with the Company upon reasonable request and where his cooperation is required or requested to assist the Company in connection with litigation or regulatory inquiries relating to matters arising while he served as an officer of the Company. The Company provides Mr. Evans with office space and administrative support as necessary for the provision of consulting services. While the initial term of the consulting arrangement was three years, the Board of Directors has annually extended the agreement in one-year increments, and the consulting fee in effect for 2021 was

and consistent basis, primarily in the Company's offices but at times by phone, with the Co-CEOs, General Counsel and other members of senior management on a wide range of matters including strategic transactions, capital management and other matters important to the Company's shareholders. The Corporate Governance Committee has determined that Mr. Evans' duties as an executive consultant to the Company require a large commitment of time, in excess of his duties as a director, and are provided on a constant basis not in connection with Board or Board committee meetings. The Corporate Governance Committee has further determined that the consulting fees paid to Mr. Evans are reasonable in light of the services that Mr. Evans provides and that shareholders benefit from Mr. Evans' continuing services to the Company in addition to his responsibilities as a director.

\$150,000. To date, Mr. Evans has consulted on a constant

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$)	Stock Award (\$) ⁽¹⁾	All Other Compensation (\$) ⁽²⁾	Total (\$)
James E. Evans	100,000	152,674	153,454	406,127
Terry S. Jacobs	135,000	152,674	—	287,674
Gregory G. Joseph	160,000	152,674	—	312,674
Mary Beth Martin	125,000	152,674	—	277,674
Amy Y. Murray	16,250	_	—	16,250
Evans N. Nwankwo	112,500	152,674	—	265,174
William W. Verity	130,000	152,674	—	282,674
John I. Von Lehman	130,000	152,674	—	282,674
Virginia "Gina" C. Drosos ⁽³⁾	121,929	152,674	_	274,603

2021 Director Compensation

(1) Calculated as the compensation cost for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the annual stock grant under the Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan. See "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" on page <u>12</u> for detail on beneficial ownership of AFG common shares by directors.

(2) All Other Compensation consists of amounts paid to Mr. Evans under a consulting arrangement, as amended, entered into between the Company and Mr. Evans in connection with his transition from executive officer and employee of the Company to executive consultant. Under the arrangement, Mr. Evans received a consulting fee in 2021 of \$150,000 as well as parking and related expenses as compensation in addition to amounts received in accordance with the Company's compensation policies for non-employee directors. Ms. Drosos resigned from the Board in December 2021.

(3)

Ratio of Co-CEO Total Pay to "Median Employee" Total Pay

Under rules adopted pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, the Company is providing the following information about the relationship of the annual total compensation of its employees and the annual total compensation of the Co-CEOs. The pay ratio included in this information is a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent with SEC rules. This information should be read together with the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" beginning on page <u>22</u>.

AFG's employee base may differ from other companies in the insurance and financial service industry. In total, at December 31, 2021, AFG employed 458 part-time seasonal insurance adjusters and 469 other part-time employees which are included in the total employee numbers, but all earned less from the Company than the median employee in 2021. Together, these represented almost 10% of AFG's employees. As a result, the ratio set forth below may not be correlative to the ratio for other companies comparable in size or industry because of differences in operations.

AFG utilized the following methodology and the material assumptions, adjustments, and estimates:

- As of December 31, 2021, our total employee population consisted of 7,581 individuals working at our parent company and consolidated subsidiaries, with approximately 5.0% located in Mexico.
- SEC rules permit us to exclude up to 5% of our non-U.S. employees when identifying the median employee. AFG excluded employees in England (60 employees), Ireland (25 employees), Singapore (84 employees) and Canada, Spain and Denmark (total of 13 employees), which collectively represented less than 2.5% of AFG's employees.

2022 Proxy Statement | Executive Compensation

- For the remaining employees, AFG compiled total 2021 wages, tips, and other compensation from 2021 year-end tax reporting data. For amounts paid in foreign currencies, AFG converted 2021 wages based on the conversion rate on the last business day of 2021.
- Using this data, AFG determined that its "median employee" as of December 31, 2021, was a full-time, salaried employee located in the United States.
- AFG calculated the employee's 2021 total compensation using the same methodology as used to determine the Co-CEOs total compensation as set forth in the Summary Compensation Table on page <u>35</u> of this proxy statement.
- With respect to the 2021 total compensation of each Co-CEO, the Company used the amount reported in the "Total" column of the Summary Compensation Table on page <u>35</u> of this proxy statement.

The 2021 total compensation for the median employee (other than the Co-CEOs) was \$71,738, and the 2021 total compensation of each Co-CEO is set forth under "Total Compensation" in the Summary Compensation Table on page <u>35</u>. Based on this information, the ratios of 2021 total compensation of each Co-CEO to the 2021 total compensation of the median employee were 174 to 1 and 172 to 1.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following reflects certain information about common shares authorized for issuance at December 31, 2021 under equity compensation plans.

Plan category	(a) Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants, and rights	(b) Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants, and rights	(c) Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a)			
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders	414,745	\$46.04	2,988,460 (1)			
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders	_	_	320,412 (2)			
Total	414,745	\$46.04	3,308,872			

(1)

Includes 2.27 million shares issuable under the Company's equity incentive plans, 652,476 shares issuable under AFG's Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 66,950 shares issuable under AFG's Non-Employee Directors Compensation Plan. Represents shares issuable under AFG's Deferred Compensation Plan. For a description of this plan, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Retirement and Other Related Benefits" on page <u>26</u>. (2)

Information about the Annual Meeting and Voting

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to Be Held on Wednesday, May 18, 2022. The Proxy Statement and Annual Report to Shareholders and Form 10-K are available at www.AFGinc.com.

Why did I receive these proxy materials?

You received a copy of this proxy statement (or a notice of internet availability of proxy materials) because you owned shares of our stock on March 25, 2022, the record date, and that entitles you to vote at the annual meeting. This proxy statement describes the matters to be voted on at the meeting and provides information on those matters. It also provides certain information about the Company that we must disclose to you when the Board solicits your proxy.

What is the record date and what does it mean?

The Board established March 25, 2022, as the record date for the annual meeting of shareholders to be held on May 18, 2022. Shareholders who own common shares of the Company at the close of business on the record date are entitled to notice of and to vote at the annual meeting.

Why are you holding a virtual annual meeting?

We have adopted a virtual meeting format for the annual meeting to provide a consistent experience to all shareholders regardless of geographic location. We believe this expands shareholder access, improves communication and lowers our costs while reducing the environmental impact of the meeting. Utilizing a virtual meeting format is particularly important to protect our shareholders, employees and directors in light of the evolving public health and safety considerations posed by the ongoing coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. A virtual annual meeting allows shareholders to have the same rights and opportunities to participate as they would have at an inperson meeting, including the opportunity to ask questions. We will have technical support available for all participants during the meeting.

Why did I receive a one-page notice in the mail regarding the internet availability of proxy materials instead of a full set of the printed proxy materials?

We are making this proxy statement and our annual report available to our shareholders electronically via the Internet. We believe this delivery method expedites your receipt of materials, while also lowering costs and reducing the environmental impact of our annual meeting. The notice of electronic availability contains instructions on how to access this proxy statement and our annual report and how to vote online. If you received a notice by mail, you will not receive a printed copy of the proxy materials unless you request one in accordance with the instructions provided in the notice. The notice has been mailed to shareholders on or about April 4, 2022, and provides instructions on how you may access the proxy materials on the Internet.

How do I attend the annual meeting?

If your shares are registered in your name, you will need to provide your 16-digit control number included on your notice or your proxy card (if you receive a printed copy of the proxy materials) in order to be able to participate in the meeting. If your shares are not registered in your name (if, for instance, your shares are held in "street name" for you by your broker, bank or other institution), you must follow the instructions printed on your Voting Instruction Form. In order to participate in the annual meeting, please log on to www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/AFG2022 at least 15 minutes prior to the start of the annual meeting to provide time to register and download the required software, if needed. If you access the meeting but do not enter your control number, you will be able to listen to the proceedings, but you will not be able to vote or otherwise participate.

How do I submit a question at the annual meeting?

Following the business of the annual meeting, we answer questions submitted by shareholders. Once you have logged into the webcast at

www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/AFG2022, simply type your question in the "ask a question" box and click "submit." You can submit a question beginning 15 minutes prior to the start of the annual meeting and until the time we indicate that the question-and-answer session is concluded.

Why did I receive more than one proxy card?

You will receive multiple proxy cards if you hold your common shares in different ways (*e.g.*, trusts, custodial accounts, joint tenancy) or in multiple accounts. If your common shares are held by a broker or bank (*i.e.*, in "street name"), you will receive your proxy card and other voting information from your broker, bank, trust, or other nominee. It is important that you complete, sign, date, and

2022 Proxy Statement | Information about the Annual Meeting and Voting

return each proxy card you receive, or vote using the telephone, or by using the Internet (as described in the instructions included with your proxy card(s) or in the notice).

How many common shares are entitled to vote at the annual meeting?

As of the record date, there were 85,090,625 common shares outstanding and eligible to vote.

How many votes must be present to hold the annual meeting?

A majority of the Company's outstanding common shares as of the record date must be present in order for us to hold the annual meeting. This is called a quorum. Broker "nonvotes" and abstentions are counted as present for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists. A broker "nonvote" occurs when a broker, bank or other nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the broker, bank or other nominee does not have discretionary voting power for the particular item and has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner.

What vote is required to approve each proposal?

Shareholders are entitled to one vote per common share on all matters submitted for consideration at the annual meeting.

The 11 nominees receiving the most votes will be elected under Ohio law, but pursuant to our Regulations, any director-nominee who fails to receive a majority of votes cast must tender his or her resignation to the Board, and the resignation will be considered by the Board and the Corporate Governance Committee as set forth on page <u>18</u> above under "Corporate Governance—Majority Voting for Directors."

The affirmative vote of a majority of the common shares represented in person or by proxy at the annual meeting is required for the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2022 and approval of the advisory vote to approve named executive officers' compensation. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not count as a vote for or against any of these proposals.

Where will I be able to find voting results of the annual meeting?

We will announce preliminary voting results at the annual meeting. We will also publish final voting results in a Current Report on Form 8-K to be filed with the SEC within four business days after the annual meeting.

How do I vote my common shares?

- (1) Via Internet: Go to www.proxyvote.com to vote via the Internet. You will need to follow the instructions on your notice or proxy card and the website. If you vote via the Internet, you may incur telephone and Internet access charges.
- (2) By Telephone: Call the toll-free telephone number on the proxy card or the website to vote by telephone. You will need to follow the instructions and the voice prompts.
- (3) *By Mail*: Request, complete and return a paper proxy card, following the instructions on your notice.
- (4) At the Meeting: Vote electronically during the annual meeting at www.virtualshareholdermeting.com/AFG2022.

If you vote via the Internet or by telephone, your electronic vote authorizes the named proxies in the same manner as if you signed, dated and returned your proxy card. If you vote via the Internet or by telephone, do not return your proxy card.

If your shares are held in "street name" (that is, in the name of a bank, broker or other holder of record), you will receive instructions from the holder of record that you must follow in order for your shares to be voted, or you may request the record holder to issue you a proxy covering your shares.

Can I change my vote after I have mailed in my proxy card(s) or submitted my vote using the Internet or telephone?

Yes, whether you vote by mail, via the Internet or by telephone, you may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted by submitting a new proxy with a later date, voting via the Internet or by telephone at a later time, delivering a written notice of revocation to the Company's Secretary, as follows, or by voting in person at the meeting:

Karl J. Grafe Vice President, Assistant General Counsel & Secretary American Financial Group, Inc. Great American Insurance Group Tower 301 East Fourth Street, 38th Floor Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

What if I hold shares through the Company's 401(k) Retirement and Savings Plan?

If you are a participant in the Company's 401(k) Retirement and Savings Plan (RASP) with a balance in the AFG Common Stock Fund, the accompanying proxy card shows the number of common shares attributed to your

2022 Proxy Statement | Information about the Annual Meeting and Voting

RASP account balance, calculated as of the record date. In order for your RASP shares to be voted in your discretion, you must vote at least three business days prior to the day of the meeting (by the end of the day on May 13, 2022) either by Internet, telephone, or returned properly signed proxy card. If you choose not to vote or if you return an invalid or unvoted proxy card, the Administrative Plan Committee, consisting of three current or former senior officers of the Company, will vote your RASP shares in the Committee's sole discretion. It has been the practice of the Administrative Plan Committee to vote all such shares in accordance with Board recommendations. Plan participants' votes will be processed by the plan trustee and will not be disclosed to the Company.

How will my proxy be voted?

If you complete, sign, date, and return your proxy card(s) or vote by telephone or by using the Internet, your proxy will be voted in accordance with your instructions. If you sign and date your proxy card(s) but do not indicate how you want to vote, your common shares will be voted as the Board recommends.

What is the difference between a "registered shareholder" and a "street name shareholder"?

These terms describe how your common shares are held. If your common shares are registered directly in your name with Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, our transfer agent, you are a "registered shareholder." If your common shares are held in the name of a broker, bank or other nominee as a custodian, you are a "street name shareholder."

What if my common shares are held in "street name" through a broker, bank or other nominee?

If your common shares are held in "street name" through a broker, bank or other nominee, you are considered the beneficial owner of those common shares, but not the record holder. As a beneficial owner, in order to ensure your shares are voted in the way you would like, you must provide voting instructions to your broker by the deadline provided in the proxy materials you receive from your broker. Under the rules of the NYSE, unless you provide specific voting instructions, your broker is not permitted to vote your shares on your behalf, except with respect to routine proposals. The ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm (Proposal 2) constitutes a routine proposal. For your vote on any other matter to be counted, you will need to provide voting instructions to your broker before the date of the 2022 annual meeting using the instructions provided by your broker.

What are the Board's recommendations on how I should vote my common shares?

The Board recommends that you vote your common shares as follows:

- "FOR" the election of the 11 nominees proposed for the Board of Directors;
- "FOR" the ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm; and
- "FOR" the approval, on an advisory basis, of compensation of our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement.

Do I have an opportunity to cumulate my votes for director nominees?

Cumulative voting allows a shareholder to multiply the number of shares owned on the record date by the number of directors to be elected and to cast the total for one nominee or distribute the votes among the nominees as the shareholder desires. Shareholders of the Company have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors if certain conditions are met. In order for cumulative voting to apply, notice of cumulative voting must be given in writing to the Company's Corporate Secretary not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the holding of the meeting. As of the date of this proxy statement, the Company has not received a notice from any shareholder requesting cumulative voting. If proper notice of cumulative voting is received by the Company, the 11 nominees who receive the greatest number of votes will be elected, subject to the tender of resignation and related procedures set forth above under, "What vote is required to approve each proposal" with respect to incumbent directors who fail to receive more votes in favor than votes withheld. The authority solicited by this proxy statement includes discretionary authority to cumulate votes in the election of directors. If cumulative voting is in effect with respect to the election of directors, the named proxies reserve the right to cumulate the votes represented by the proxies they receive and distribute such votes in accordance with their sole discretion, except that shareholders' votes will not be cast for a nominee as to whom such shareholder instructs that such votes be cast "AGAINST" or "ABSTAIN."

2022 Proxy Statement | Information about the Annual Meeting and Voting

Other Matters

Copies of Annual Report on Form 10-K

The Company makes available on its website all of its filings that are made electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), including Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K. To access these filings, go to the Company's website (www.AFGinc.com), click on "Investor Relations" on the home page and select "Financial Information & SEC Filings."

Copies of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, including financial statements and schedules, as filed with the SEC, are also available without charge to shareholders upon written request addressed to:

Investor Relations American Financial Group, Inc. Great American Insurance Group Tower 301 East Fourth Street Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

Submitting Shareholder Proposals for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Under the rules and regulations of the SEC, any proposal which a shareholder of the Company intends to present at the annual meeting of shareholders to be held in 2023 and which such shareholder desires to have included in the Company's proxy materials for such meeting must be received by the Secretary of the Company not less than 120 calendar days before the one-year anniversary date of this year's proxy statement, or December 5, 2022. Our Regulations, as they may be amended from time to time, may contain additional requirements for matters to be properly presented at annual meetings of shareholders.

The proxy card used by AFG for the annual meeting typically grants authority to management to vote in its discretion on any matters that come before the meeting for which adequate notice has not been received. In order for a notice to be deemed adequate for the 2023 annual meeting, it must be received by February 18, 2023.

Shareholders wishing to nominate a director candidate must provide at least 90 and not more than 120 days prior written notice to the Secretary of the Company setting forth or accompanied by: (1) certain biographical, stock ownership and investment intent disclosures about the proposed nominee as set forth in the Regulations; (2) certain biographical, stock ownership and hedging or similar activity disclosures about the shareholder giving the notice and specified persons associated with such shareholder as set forth in the Regulations; (3) verification of the accuracy or completeness of any nomination information at the Company's request; (4) a statement that a nomination that is inaccurate or incomplete in any manner shall be disregarded; (5) a representation that the shareholder was a record holder of the Company's voting stock and intended to appear, in person or by proxy, at the meeting to make the nomination; and (6) the consent of each such nominee to serve as director if elected.

2022 Proxy Statement | Other Matters





AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. GREAT AMERICAN INSURANCE GROUP TOWER 301 EAST FOURTH STREET CINCINNATI, OH 45202 ATTN: KARL J. GRAFE



VOTE BY INTERNET - www.proxyvote.com or scan the QR Barcode above Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information. Vote by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 17, 2022 for shares held inferetly and by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 13, 2022 for shares held in a Plan. Have your proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form. During The Meeting - Go to www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/AFG2022 You may attend the meeting via the Internet and vote during the meeting. Have the information that is printed in the box marked by the arrow available and follow the instructions. VOTE BY PHONE - 1.son.ego.ego:

VOTE BY PHONE -1-800-690-6903 Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions. Vote by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 17, 2022 for shares held directly and by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 13, 2022 for shares held directly and by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 13, 2022 for shares held directly and by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 13, 2022 for shares held directly and by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 13, 2022 for shares held directly and by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 13, and the your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, *clo* Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717.

TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS:

	THIS PROXY	CARD	IS V	ALID O	NLY WHEN	SIGNED	AND	DATED.	DET	ACH AND RET	URN	THIS POR	TION ON
The Board of Directors reco each of the following:	mmends you vote FOR	For All	Withhol All	d For All Except	To withho individua Except" ar nominee(s)	nominee d write 1	(s), m the num	ark "For ber(s) of	A11			_	
1. Election of Directors													
Nominees													
01) Carl H. Lindner III 06) Gregory G. Joseph 11) John I. Von Lehman	02) S. Craig Lindner 07) Mary Beth Martin		03) J 08) A	ohn B. Ber my Y. Murr	ding ay	04) J 09) E	ames E. vans N.	Evans Nwankwo		05) Terry 10) Willi	S am W	Jacobs . Verity	
The Board of Directors reco	mmends you vote FOR propos	als 2 an	d 3.								For	Against	Abstai
 Proposal to ratify the Registered Public Account 	Audit Committee's appointm nting Firm for 2022.	ent of E	rnst &	Young LLP	as the Compa	ny's Inde	pendent				0	Ο	Ο
3. Advisory vote on compen	sation of named executive	officers									Ο	Ο	Ο
Please sign exactly as your please give full title as s partnership, please sign in	uch. Joint owners should e	ach sign	person	allv. All	holders must	administra sign. If	ator, c a corp	r other fi oration or	duciary	,			
Signature [PLEASE SIGN WI					Signature								

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting: The Notice and Proxy Statement, Annual Report and Form 10-K are available at www.proxyvote.com

> AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. Annual Meeting of Shareholders May 18, 2022 11:00 A.M. Eastern Daylight Time This proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors

The undersigned hereby appoints Karl J. Grafe and Mark A. Weiss, and either of them, attorneys and proxies, with the power of substitution to each, to vote all shares of common stock of the Company that the undersigned may be entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company to be held May 18, 2022 at 11:00 A.M. Eastern Daylight Time, on the matters set forth on the reverse side (and at their discretion to cumulate votes in the election of directors if cumulative voting is invoked by a shareholder through proper notice to the Company), and on such other matters as may properly come before the meeting or any postponement or adjournment thereof.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted as directed by the shareholder(s). If no such directions are made, this proxy will be voted FOR the election to the Board of Directors of all nominees under Proposal 1, FOR Proposal 2, and FOR Proposal 3.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side